
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

James Dearling, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207035 

Email: scrutiny@torbay.gov.uk  

(i) 

 

 

Friday, 9 September 2011 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 

A meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Board will be held on 
 

Wednesday, 21 September 2011 
 

commencing at 5.00 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Thomas (J) (Chairman) 

Councillor Addis 

Councillor Barnby 

Councillor Bent 

Councillor Darling 

 

Councillor Kingscote 

Councillor Parrott 

Councillor Pentney 

Councillor Stringer 

 

Co-opted Members of the Board 

Leon Butler 

Penny Burnside, Diocese of Exeter 

 

 

 

Our vision is for a cleaner, safer, prosperous Bay 



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Board. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 
10)  To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meetings of the 

Board held on 28 July 2011 and 9 August 2011. 
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 (a) To receive declarations of personal interests in respect of items 

on this agenda. 
 

For reference:  Having declared their personal interest members and 
officers may remain in the meeting and speak (and, in the case of 
Members, vote on the matter in question).  If the Member’s interest 
only arises because they have been appointed to an outside body by 
the Council (or if the interest is as a member of another public body) 
then the interest need only be declared if the Member wishes to speak 
and/or vote on the matter.  A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 

 
(b) To receive declarations of personal prejudicial interests in 

respect of items on this agenda. 
 

For reference:  A Member with a personal interest also has a 
prejudicial interest in that matter if a member of the public (with 
knowledge of the relevant facts) would reasonably regard the interest 
as so significant that it is likely to influence their judgement of the 
public interest.  Where a Member has a personal prejudicial interest 
he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the item.  
However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public have 
a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not improperly 
seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A completed disclosure 
of interests form should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion 
of the meeting. 

 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Democratic 
Services or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Productivity Improvement Programme (PIP) - RIO (Revenue 

Income Optimisation) 
(Pages 11 - 

18) 
 To consider information on the Revenue Income Optimisation project, 

including how each of the business cases will be progressed. 
 

6.   Torbay Swimming Strategy 2011 - 2026 (Pages 19 - 
70)  To consider a report on the draft Torbay Swimming Strategy, 2011-



 

2026. 
 

7.   Affordable Housing Scrutiny Review – position statement (Pages 71 - 
80)  To consider a position statement monitoring the agreed 

recommendations of the Affordable Housing Scrutiny Review. (The 
Affordable Housing Review Action Plan was agreed by the Mayor at 
the Cabinet Meeting on 11 February 2011.)  
 

8.   Exclusion of press and public  
 To consider passing a resolution to exclude the press and public from 

the meeting prior to consideration of the following items on the agenda 
on the grounds that exempt information (as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) is likely to 
be disclosed and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information concerned. 
 

9.   Delivering Regeneration Through Joint Ventures - Update to 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(To Follow) 

 To consider a progress report on the above matter. 
 

10.   Office Rationalisation Project (ORP) Implementation Plan (Pages 81 - 
118)  To consider a report on the above matter. 

 
11.   Revenue Income Optimisation Project (RIO) - Implementation 

Proposed Business Case for Beach Hut Development 
(Pages 119 - 

154) 
 To consider a report on the above matter. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
 

Thursday, 28 July 2011 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Thomas (J) (Chairman) 
 

Councillors Barnby, Bent, Butt, Darling (Vice-Chair), Kingscote, Parrott, Pentney and Pountney 
 

(Also in attendance: Councillors Tyerman, Hernandez, Scouler and Lewis,  
plus Mayor Gordon Oliver) 

 
190 Apologies  

 
An apology for absence was received from Penny Burnside. 
 

191 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Meeting of the Board held on 29 June 2011 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

192 Active Ageing Strategy Progress report  
 
The Board considered an update on the development of the Active Ageing 
Strategy.  The Board was advised of engagement activity that had occurred, 
including the use of the Council’s Viewpoint panel, Torbay’s Older Citizens Forum, 
Torbay Local Involvement Network, Age UK, and workshops.  The Board was 
advised that four priorities had been identified from the engagement activities: good 
health in mind and body; dignity, choice and control; social integration; and safe 
and secure. 
 
Members questioned the delay in undertaking and analysing the surveys and the 
representativeness of the views obtained.  In reply, the Board was informed that 
Viewpoint provided a good representation of views within the Bay.  Members 
questioned when Viewpoint was last refreshed and were advised that this 
information would be obtained. 
 
In response to members questioning the slippage in the development of the 
strategy, the meeting was advised by the Deputy Chief Executive, Torbay Care 
Trust, that confidence in meeting the revised timetable for the project was high. 
 
With reference to the age profile of respondents to engagement activities, Board 
members suggested the value of including younger adults and children. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 2



Overview and Scrutiny Board  Thursday, 28 July 2011 
 

 
 

193 Torbay Economic Development Company Business Plan 2011/12  
 
The Board considered the draft Torbay Economic Development Company Business 
Plan for 2011/12.  The Chief Executive Officer, Torbay Economic Development 
Company, TEDC, outlined the draft business plan and indicated that the Bay’s 
economy remained extremely weak and the activities of TEDC were unlikely to lead 
to significant improvement in economic performance.  The Board was advised that 
the activities of TEDC could bring about change, improve skills, and influence 
others.  The Chairman of TEDC advised the Board of the benefits of an economic 
development company.  The Mayor outlined the approach, role, and value of TEDC 
within the context of current economic circumstances. 
 
Members questioned where in-year budget savings or efficiencies were identified in 
the business plan.  In response, the Chief Executive Officer (TEDC) advised the 
meeting that the business plan budget for 2011/12 incorporated savings agreed 
previously and that possible savings of up to fifteen per cent had been identified for 
TEDC’s 2012/13 budget, which was being prepared.   
 
In reply to questions concerning the risks contained within the draft business plan, 
the Board was advised that certain risks were not new and had been judged high 
for a number of years. 
 
Members questioned where the TEDC’s commitment to help deprived communities 
appeared in the business plan.  In reply the Board was advised by the Chief 
Executive Officer, TEDC, of examples of help to target deprived wards, including 
the Cockington Sea Change Project, and received an acknowledgment that such a 
commitment could be reflected more fully in the final business plan.  Board 
members were advised that contractors working on Council programmes were 
being asked to work with deprived wards, including the provision of training 
programmes. 
 
Board members asked for confirmation that Oldway would be vacated by the end of 
September and were advised that the programme of relocating staff was under 
review.  The Board was advised that TEDC was not involved in the relocation of 
staff from Oldway.  In response to questions about the amount of money put aside 
for the physical regeneration of Torquay Harbour, the Board was advised that a pre-
feasibility study was being undertaken by TEDC. 
 
In reply to questions about the lack of previous financial accounts, Board members 
were advised that TEDC was a new company and that figures for the former Torbay 
Development Agency budgets had been used to form indicative accounts.  The 
Board was informed that the value of buildings and other assets of TEDC would be 
ascertained during 2011/12.   
 
In response to a suggestion that the TEDC should recognise the need to reduce the 
fees that the Council paid to the company, the Chairman of TEDC indicated to the 
Board that empire building or maintaining funding levels was not a TEDC ambition. 
 



Overview and Scrutiny Board  Thursday, 28 July 2011 
 

 
 
The Executive Lead Member for Involved and Healthy Communities suggested the 
value of appointing a voluntary or community sector representative to the TEDC 
Board.  In response, the Chairman of TEDC indicated he welcomed the proposal in 
principle. 
 

Resolved:  (i)  that with reference to its business plan, the TEDC be 
recommended to further promote its role in ensuring there are pathways to 
employment for people living in deprived areas; 
 
(ii)  that TEDC be recommended to consider appointing a third sector 
representative to its Board; 
 
(iii)  that the Overview and Scrutiny Board members be provided with details 
and criteria for the 500 plus jobs reportedly safeguarded by the TEDC; and  
 
(iv)  that with reference to TEDC business planning, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board members be provided with information showing the financial 
amount budgeted per job created. 

 
(Note:  Prior to consideration of the item in Minute 193, Councillor Tyerman 
declared a personal interest as a Council appointed Director of Torbay Economic 
Development Company Ltd.) 
 

194 Performance Overview and Monitoring  
 
The Board considered reports which summarised the performance of the 
performance indicators and projects in the Council’s strategic scorecard, the 
Council’s approved capital programme for the first quarter of 2011/12, and the 
Council’s revenue budget for the same period. 
 
The Executive Lead Member for Children, Schools and Families and the Acting 
Director of Children’s Services attended to provide additional information and 
respond to Board members questions.  The Board was advised by the Executive 
Lead Member for Children, Schools and Families that the backlog in safeguarding 
cases would be clear by the end of August 2011.  The Board was informed that 
safeguarding issues would take eighteen months to rectify and require additional 
funds. 
 
Members questioned the timetable put forward to address safeguarding issues and 
the likelihood of success.  In reply to questions, the Acting Director of Children’s 
Services indicated that professionals within Children’s Services had become risk 
adverse.  He advised that intensive work with families to enable the child to stay in 
the family was often the best route.  Members suggested that action sooner to 
achieve a permanent solution, along the lines of the Denmark early intervention 
model, was most effective.   
 
Members questioned the shortage of foster care and were advised that a number of 
staff were focusing on foster care recruitment and that a recent campaign had been 
successful. 



Overview and Scrutiny Board  Thursday, 28 July 2011 
 

 
 
 
Board members questioned whether corporate resources were helping to address 
safeguarding issues.  In response the Chief Executive Officer advised that all 
Commissioners and Executive Heads had been challenged to help and that the 
issue was not confined to a single unit in Children’s Services.   
 
With reference to previous assurances and targets, Board members questioned the 
likelihood and intellectual capacity of the Council to deliver successful safeguarding.  
In response, the Board was advised that the backlog of cases would be rectified 
shortly and an eighteen month plan was needed. 
 
With reference to a projected overspend of £1.5m in Children’s Services for 
2011/12 and previous statements that an overspend was likely, Board members 
questioned whether the budget set had been realistic.  In response to questions 
about the possible closure of Children’s Centres within Torbay as an in-year saving, 
the Executive Lead Member for Children, Schools and Families advised the 
meeting that the operations of the centres were under review but they would not 
close.  The Acting Director of Children’s Services advised that measures to address 
the budget overspend including all expenditure over £500 requiring his 
authorisation.  The Board was advised that the possibility of charging academies for 
services was being investigated. 
 
Board members were advised by the Acting Director of Children’s Services that due 
to the budget process, historical overspends indicating difficulties within 
safeguarding had been absorbed within the overall Children’s Services budget. 
 
With reference to adult social care the Board was advised by the Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer, Torbay Care Trust, of capacity issues and increasing waiting 
lists.  The Board was informed that the projected overspend for adult social care for 
2011/12 was £1.5m, with a current year to date overspend of £575,000. 
 
In response to questions concerning bed blocking, the Board was advised that 
there were not delayed discharges within Torbay’s community hospitals, but there 
were within the eleven community hospitals within southern Devon. 
 
Members discussed the financial risk sharing arrangements between the Council 
and the Care Trust and potential proposals to reduce commissioned adult social 
care spending.  With particular reference to the Annual Strategic Agreement 
between the Council and the Care Trust, Board members expressed concern at the 
lack of information available during the budget process for 2011/12. 
 
Members discussed the possible impact of moving to critical care only during the 
current financial year.  The Executive Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Older 
People indicated that both substantial and critical care should be protected. 
 
In reply to questioning, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Torbay Care Trust, 
confirmed that certain services would cease over the next 2-3 years. 
 



Overview and Scrutiny Board  Thursday, 28 July 2011 
 

 
 
The Executive Lead Member for Finance and Audit indicated that current budgets 
were unrealistic and undesirable and the executive would be looking across the 
Council to identify savings.  In response to questions, he advised that the Council 
had not borrowed since May 2010.  Board members asked what the cost of capital 
borrowings was to the revenue budget and were advised £6.9m. 
 
Members asked for evidence of the added value of the capital plan, such as jobs 
created, and suggested performance indicators could be created to clarify such 
benefits.  
 
Members alluded to possible financial liabilities and penalties to Councillors such as 
incurred in the Clay Cross dispute and agreed to request the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer on the issue. 
 

Resolved:  (i)  that the Chief Executive Officer be recommended to ensure 
appraisals of Executive Heads and higher posts include children’s and adults’ 
safeguarding and positive engagement with corporate parenting; and 
 
(ii)  that monthly updates of performance indicators and projects relating to 
children’s safeguarding be provided to Overview and Scrutiny Board 
members. 

 
(Note:  Prior to consideration of the item in Minute 194, Councillor Pentney 
declared a personal interest due to her grandchild receiving care from Children’s 
Services.) 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
 

Tuesday, 9 August 2011 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Thomas (J) (Chairman) 
 

Councillors Baldrey, Barnby, Bent, Butt, Kingscote, Parrott, Pentney and Pountney 
 

(Also in attendance: Councillors Davies, Ellery, Excell, Faulkner (A), James, Lewis, Morey, 
Richards, Stockman and Thomas (D),  

plus Mayor Gordon Oliver) 

 
203 Apologies  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Penny Burnside and Councillor Cowell.   

 
In accordance with the wishes of the Liberal Democrat Group, the membership of 
the Board had been amended for this meeting by including Councillor Baldrey 
instead of Councillor Darling. 
 

204 Call-in – Options for Future Delivery of Tourism, Marketing and Events 
Support  
 
The Board considered a report relating to the options for the future delivery of 
tourism, marketing, and events support within the Bay.  The report detailed the 
reasons for a call-in by ten Members of the Council of the decision by the Mayor on 
13 July 2011 to instruct Torbay Development Agency to identify the strategic 
delivery options for the future delivery of tourism, marketing, and events support 
(assuming the retention of the Riviera International Conference Centre) and report 
back to full Council within four months. 
 
The Call-in Promoter (Councillor Parrott) set out the reasons for calling in the 
decision and four of the Call-in Supporters present also addressed the Board about 
their concerns regarding the decision.  The Board was advised of the concerns of 
another Call-in Supporter who was unable to be present at the meeting.  The Board 
heard that the call-in was due to concerns including a lack of consultation or 
involvement of the tourism industry in the Mayor’s decision, the change of tourism 
strategy so shortly after the establishment of the English Riviera Tourism Company 
Ltd (ERTC), the cost of an options review, the value in a review of the Riviera 
International Conference Centre (RICC), the high risks of undertaking such a review 
identified in the report to Council on 13 July, and a lack of evidence to support the 
Mayor’s decision.   
 
The Board heard representations from and questioned invited witnesses.  The 
witnesses appearing before the Board were the Chief Executive Officer, ERTC, the 
Managing Director, RICC, the Executive Lead Member for Tourism and 

Agenda Item 2
Appendix 1



Overview and Scrutiny Board  Tuesday, 9 August 2011 
 

 
 
Environment (and a Council-appointed ERTC Board member) and the Executive 
Lead Member for Safer Communities and Transport (and the Council-appointed 
RICC Board member).   
 
The Board was advised by the Chief Executive Officer, ERTC, that the public sector 
strategic options review proposed would harm the local tourism industry and lead to 
a loss of private sector participation and financial support for the new tourism 
strategy.  The Board was advised by the Managing Director, RICC, that the 
proposal to explore options was unsettling, backward-looking, and that company 
structural changes were not required to achieve closer working.  The Managing 
Director, RICC, informed the Board that there would not be financial benefit in 
merging the ERTC and the RICC and the options review was not required and 
potentially costly. 
 
The Board was informed by the Executive Lead Member for Tourism and 
Environment that the Mayor’s decision would produce closer working relationships 
between the ERTC and the RICC and was not intended to break up the ERTC.  
She advised the meeting that the options review would examine all options. 
 
The Board was informed by the Executive Lead Member for Safer Communities 
and Transport that the purpose of the options review was to examine how closer 
working between the ERTC and the RICC could be achieved. 
 
In response to questions, the Board was advised by the Chief Executive Officer, 
ERTC, that greater efficiency and co-ordination between organisations did not 
require a four-month review and the other two high-level options identified in the 
proposal were either not viable or against national policy. 
 
In reply to questions, the Board was informed that members of the RICC Board 
were consulted about the proposed options and the ERTC Board was not. 
 
The Board heard representations from members of the public, including ERTC 
Board members and a representative of the National Trust, who were opposed to 
the decision of the Mayor.   
 
The Mayor responded to the points raised in the call-in notice and during the 
meeting.  He indicated that his decision had been debated and voted on at Council 
on 13 July and that the tourism strategy and the options report proposed were 
intended to be evolutionary.  The Mayor advised the meeting of his commitment to 
the RICC and of the valuable community resource it provided.  The Mayor indicated 
that sport tourism, the cruise ship initiative, and closer links with the Town Centres 
Company and the Geo-Park were areas that the ERTC had neglected or 
overlooked.   
 
Board members questioned the Mayor including whether he had anticipated such a 
negative response to his proposals, why Council had not been advised that 
consultation over the proposals had not taken place with the ERTC, and whether he 
might reconsider his decision and allow the private sector and the ERTC to come 
forward with proposals to promote greater efficiency and co-ordination rather than 



Overview and Scrutiny Board  Tuesday, 9 August 2011 
 

 
 
proceed with the options review.  In response, the Board was advised by the Mayor 
that he had anticipated such a negative response, that the Chief Executive Officer 
of Torbay Development Agency had spoken to both the Chief Executive Officer and 
the Chairman of the ERTC, and that the strategic overview for the tourism industry 
was the responsibility of the Council.  The Mayor indicated that Council had 
approved the proposed options review and he wanted to see the results of the 
democratic process. 
 
The Board considered the concerns raised against the Mayor’s decision: including 
the offer from the ERTC Board Chairman to develop plans to achieve closer 
working with the RICC and improved communication between marketing and 
events organisations, the development of a Destination Forum, the resources of the 
local authority likely to be expended on the options review, the commercial risks of 
the options review, the successes of the ERTC, the viability of combining the ERTC 
and the RICC, the public costs of establishing the ERTC, the public criticism of the 
options review, the possible value in a confidential assessment of the RICC, and 
the loss of industry confidence and support likely from the proposed options review. 
 
The Monitoring Officer provided the Board with advice on the definition of 
exceptional circumstances as outlined in the Constitution. 
 

Resolved:  That the issue be referred to the Council for consideration for the 
following reasons: 
 
In addition to the reasons within the call-in notice, it is the view of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board that Council was not made aware of both the opposition of 
the tourism industry to the options review and the lack of consultation with the 
English Riviera Tourism Company Ltd. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

 

 

Title: PIP (Productivity Improvement Programme) Revenue Income 
Optimisation (RIO) 

Public Agenda Item: Yes  
Reason for Report to be Exempt: N/A  
Wards 
Affected: 

All Wards in Torbay  

To: Overview & Scrutiny Board On: 21 September 
2011 

    
Key Decision: Report for noting  

 
  

Change to 
Budget: 

No Change to 
Policy 
Framework: 

No 
 

Contact Officer: Clare Tanner - Commissioner of Adults and Operations   
℡ Telephone: 01803 207701 
�  E.mail: Clare.tanner@torbay.gov.uk  
 
 
1. What we are trying to achieve and the impact on our customers 
 
1.1 The Council has needed to respond boldly to the Coalition Government’s plans and the 

state of public finances that became evident through the second half of 2010 

 
As a result of this the Council established the Productivity Improvement Programme (PIP) in 
October 2010 which aimed to: 

 

• Identify opportunities for improved fees, charging arrangements and proposals for 
commercial income generation for Torbay Council - known as the “Revenue Income 
Optimisation Project” (RIO).  

 

• Gain maximum value from the procurement of the Council’s £104m annual non-pay spend – 
known as the “Procurement Project”  

 

• To establish a design for the Council’s future way of working – known as the Council Design 
Project.  

 
This report provides Full Council with information on the RIO project and how each of the 
business cases will be progressed.  

 

2. Recommendation(s) for decision 
 
2.1 None required – this report is for noting. However there is one opportunity dealing with 

the RIO Business Case for Beach Huts that requires a Full Council decision in the 
future. 

 

3. Key points  
 

Agenda Item 5



  

3.1 The overall PIP programme was established to help the Council identify significant savings 
and meet the financial challenges that are set to impact us over the next 4 years. The RIO 

project has identified a target figure of new/increased income of £3.0 million over the next 3 
years, and a steady state target income of £1.5 million per annum thereafter. The target 
levels of income will only be realised if all of the business cases and the opportunities within 
them are taken forward. If any of the opportunities are removed then the income figure will 
need to be changed accordingly. 

 
3.2 The Council’s corporate centre has managed the overall PIP programme to date and 

therefore have significant knowledge of the business cases, how they have been developed 
and how they should be taken forward. By the corporate centre managing the process going 
forward this will ensure that the knowledge of the overall RIO business case is not lost. The 
corporate centre can help support departments to realise, and track, income targets to avoid 
double counting of savings/income, and harness income opportunities on an ongoing basis. 
The corporate centre would also have a key role in further developing commercial 
awareness and cultivating a commercial culture across the organisation. 

 
3.3 The Majority of business cases can be agreed under existing delegated powers. In the 

future if any major decisions need to be made or if any further investment is sought 
business cases may be referred to Full Council for a decision.  

 
3.4 RIO Business Cases – decision makers:  
 

Business Case  Decision Maker  

Harbours (Ring fenced budget)*  

 

Opportunities 

Review the prices charged at the Torquay Town 
Dock 

Consider charging the same harbour dues to fishing 

vessels as to non commercial vessels 

 

Target income over 3 years - £122,575 

 

Harbour Committee Budget Working Party 

Services to Schools  
 

Opportunities 

School packages to support vulnerable children - 

CAF return/contribution 

Review fees for consultation software and charge 

schools for data packages 

Review level of charges to schools in general 

Offer admissions service to academies 

Early years education - offer advice and support to 

the private sector 

Student travel discount scheme 

A better approach to packaging up support services 

as an offer to other public/voluntary sector- in 

particular academies 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 



  

Target income over 3 years - £408,400 

 

Advertising  
 

Opportunity 

A coordinated approach to advertising, sponsorship 
and marketing across the authority 

 

Target income over 3 years - £651,568 

 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 

Beach Huts  Full Council – but opportunity still being 
considered at the time of writing 

Traded Services  
 

Opportunities 
Legal - Expand the procurement and contracts 
advice and debt recovery advice to other public 
sector bodies 
 
Customer Services – Offer support to other 
organisations who are going for Customer Service 
Excellence awards  
 
Security - Provide security patrols and key holding 
service to other local organisations 
 

Target income over 3 years - £172,980 
 

 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 

Planning & Building Control  

 

Opportunities 

Charge for pre-application advice 

Charge for the Design Review Panel 

Charge for planning applications 

Extend the remit of the Design Review Panel 

Fully recover costs associated with Council Officers 

responding to reports of dangerous structures using 

Section 77/78 of the Building Act 1984. 

Target income over 3 years - £181,125 

 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 

Highways  
 

Opportunities 

Charge for damage to the highway and grass verges 

by cars 

Provide a gritting service for private roads/car parks 

Charge for street naming and numbering 

Provide a design service for highway adoptions 

Provide professional advice to residents regarding 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 



  

trees and provide a hedge cutting service 

Provide maintenance service for private streets, 

housing areas or private car parks 

Deregulate Vaughan Parade and charge rent for 

table and chairs put on the precinct 

Target income over 3 years - £231,764 

 

Children’s Services  
 

Opportunities 

Consider a charging policy for school transport for 

families with mobility benefits 

Market and develop the Short breaks centre's 

Saturday Club and play scheme to children from 

other local authorities 

Target income over 3 years - £75,000 

 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 

Regulatory Services  
 

Opportunities 

Charge for non-statutory food hygiene inspections, 

health and safety inspections, HMO inspections and 

licensing inspections and other advice visits 

Charge an administration charge at the cost recovery 

rate for national assistance burials 

Increase charge for export certificate books 

Charge the mussel bed operator the true cost of 

sampling and attendance 

Introduce a means tested charge for pest control 

treatments 

Target income over 3 years - £89,378 

 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 

Licensing  
 

Opportunities 

Benchmark licensing fees against other South West 

Local Authorities 

Charge for changes to the Torquay United safety 

certificate 

Target income over 3 years - £31,800 

 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers  

Registrars  
 

Opportunities 

Benchmark all charges for registrars services and 

introduce differential charging 

Introduce non-returnable deposits for ceremony 

bookings 

Officers decision under existing delegated 
powers 



  

Charge for changes to provisional bookings 

Introduce extra services at ceremonies including live 

web link and instant digital photographs 

Provide local history/ family history and archive 

service through Registrars services  

Target income over 3 years - £83,908 

 

 
*Please note: the Harbour budget is ring fenced therefore any income generated within this 
business case will be reallocated back into the Harbour budget. The decision on progressing this 
business case will be made at the Harbour Committee Budget Working Party.  

 
 
Clare Tanner  
Commissioner of Adults and Operations   



  

Supporting information 
 
A1. Introduction and history 
 
A1.1 The Council needs to respond boldly to the Coalition Government’s plans and the state of 

public finances that became evident through the second half of 2010. As a result of this the 
Council established the Productivity Improvement Programme (PIP) in October 2010. PIP 
included the following three projects: 1. Torbay Council Design (currently on hold); 2. 
Procurement; and 3. Revenue Income Optimisation (RIO). This work was undertaken in 
partnership with PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC).   

 
A1.2 The Council has not previously undertaken a strategic review of income. Prior to the RIO 

project there has only been a history of service by service reviews of fees and annual 
consideration of blanket charge increases as part of the annual budget setting process. 

 
A1.3 A collaborative approach was used to identify and develop income generating opportunities 

working closely with lead officers from across the Council. The project identified over 300 
income generating opportunities. These opportunities were presented to the Productivity 
Improvement Programme (PIP) Board at a workshop where they were filtered and prioritised 

and 11 business cases were established. 

 
A1.4 The RIO project has challenged current income generation practice across the Council to 

establish 11 business cases which offer new and/or increased target income streams to the 
Council totalling £3.0 million over 3 years and a target steady state income of £1.5 million 
per annum thereafter. However it must be stressed that the £3.0 million income stream is a 
target and further work will need to be undertaken to verify this.  

 
A1.5 In all cases we have worked with lead officers to identify proposals which are practical and 

reasonable. The officers have been active in providing information and data to support the 
assumptions and calculations for the income projections. Where it has been relevant, 
benchmarking data has been used to provide evidence of similar activity or charging in other 
local authorities. 

 
A2. Risk assessment of preferred option 
 

A2.1 Outline of significant key risks 
 
A2.1.1  Each business case does contain a “Risks & Issues” section. A full “Risks & Issues” log 

will also be kept by the Project Manager when and if the business cases progress. 
 

A2.2 Remaining risks 
 
A2.2.1  N/A 

 
A3. Other Options 
 
A3.1 N/A  

 
A4. Summary of resource implications 
 
A4.1 Business units across the Council will be required to support this process, as they have 

already to date. This project will help the Council to meet the budget cuts imposed by 
Central Government. 

 

 



  

A5. What impact will there be on equalities, environmental sustainability and 
crime and disorder? 

 
A5.1 An initial overview impact assessment (EIA) for the RIO project has been completed. A 

full impact assessment will be carried out once the decision is made regarding which 
opportunities can be taken forward. 

 
A6. Consultation and Customer Focus 
 
A6.1 Consultation will be carried out where appropriate once the decision is made regarding 

which RIO opportunities can be taken forward 
 

A7. Are there any implications for other Business Units? 
 
A7.1 All business units across the Council will be required to support this process. Many of 

the income streams identified are as a result of increased charging levels in areas where 
we charge currently. Therefore no additional work would be required. Where additional 
work is required this will be carried out within existing resources. It should be noted that if 
the demand on a service exceeds the demand forecasted additional resources may be 
required. 

 

Appendices: 
  

Documents available in members’ rooms: 
 

Background Papers: 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 
 

 

Title: Torbay Swimming Strategy 2011 - 2026 
  

Is the information in this report available to the public? Yes 
 
  

Wards Affected: All Wards in Torbay 
  

To: Overview and Scrutiny 
Board 

On: 21 September 2011 

    
Contact Officer: Catherine Williams 
℡ Telephone: (01803) 207976 
�  E.mail: Catherine.williams@torbay.gov.uk 
 

 

 
1. Key points and Summary 
 
1.1 Torbay’s Swimming Strategy considers the current availability of community 
swimming facilities within Torbay, and the potential future requirements to maintain, or 
increase provision. 
 

2. Introduction 
 
2.1 In Torbay 5 swimming pools have been identified  as reaching the minimum 

standards for swimming as a sport. The criteria being a minimum of 25 metres in 
length (as defined by the Amateur Swimming Association), or at least 160m2 in 
available water area. 

2.2 The strategy looks at each of the community pools and considers the impact of 
closure or loss of any of the existing pool space. 

2.3 The strategy considers revenue and funding issues and makes 
recommendations as to the way forward. 

2.4 The strategy is currently in draft format. 
2.5 The strategy has been produced in consultation with Sport England and the 

Amateur Swimming Association. 

 
Name of Head of Business Unit 
Katie Lusty 

 
Title of Head of Business Unit 
Group Manager, Culture and Community 

 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 -  Financial contributions 
Appendix 2 -  Report on all swimming pools in Torbay 
Appendix 3 – Swimming for health 
Appendix 4 – Capacity (to be added) 
Appendix 5 -  National Facilities Audit 2011 

Agenda Item 6



  

Appendix 6 – ASA sub/regional/regional/local authority swimming pool facility review for 
Torbay. 

 

Background Papers: 
The following documents/files were used to compile this report: 
 
Torbay Sports Facility Strategy 
National Facilities Audit  
ASA sub/regional/regional/local authority swimming pool facility review for Torbay 
Sport England, Torbay Pools Facility Planning Model 
 
 



DRAFT 

 
 
 

Torbay Swimming Strategy  
2011-2026 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

George Fearnley 
 

Torbay Junior Sports Personality of the Year 2010 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 2

 
 

Contents 

 
 

• Section 1 – Introduction and context 
 

• Section 2 – Where are we now? 
 

• Section 3 – Where do we want to be? 
 

• Section 4 – Capital and Revenue Funding Issues 
 

• Section 5 – Summary and Conclusion 
 
 
 

• Appendix 1 - Financial contributions so far 
 

• Appendix 2 - Detailed Report on All Swimming Pools in Torbay 
 

• Appendix 3 – Swimming for health 
 

• Appendix 4 - Torbay Pools Timetable 
 

• Appendix 5: National Facilities Audit 2011 
 

• Appendix 6: ASA Sub/|Regional/regional/local authority swimming 
pool facility review for Torbay 

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 3

Section 1 

 
1.1 Introduction and context 
 

 
Swimming is an activity that can be undertaken by all people of all ages, 
participants are of all abilities including people with a wide range of 
disabilities and is probably one of the most inclusive activities that can 
be undertaken. 
 

 
Swimming pools provide the resource to enable a number of water based 
activities to take place throughout the year, teaching the various activities in a 
safe and controlled environment is a prime function. Activities undertaken may 
be leisure based, sports related, health and fitness or for training purposes. 
 
The sports able to make use of these facilities are competitive Swimming, 
Water Polo or Octopush, there are no diving facilities within Torbay. For other 
water based activities the pools facilitate initial training, beginners soon gain 
the confidence and the ability to undertake the activities in open waters 
around Torbay. Scuba Diving, Canoeing, Kayaking and Life Saving being 
examples, it can be difficult to undertake the initial training away from this safe 
environment. 
 
Health and Fitness is an important factor in the well being of local residents, 
swimming pools play an important part in the provision. Swimmers using the 
pool for pleasure and recreation do achieve a level of fitness. While more 
organised activities such as Aqua Aerobics are also made available.  
 
Swimming Pool facilities also play an important role in the treatment of certain 
medical conditions, where safe exercise that reduces strain on muscles is a 
prime consideration. A prime example of this is at Swim Torquay where stroke 
rehab and disabled sessions are run.  
 
Torbay’s Swimming Strategy considers the current availability of swimming 
facilities within Torbay and potential future requirements to maintain or 
increase provision.  



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 4

The aim of the strategy is to: 
 

• Provide Torbay with the right number of swimming pools, of the right 
quality, in the right place at an affordable price. 

• See a clear, coherent and equitable approach to facility development, 
enhancement, maintenance and management. 

• Provide an adopted local standard for Torbay in relation to the 
swimming facilities it should seek to provide for its local residents.  

 
The strategy will demonstrate the need by: 

• Considering national, regional and local agendas, the corporate 
priorities of Torbay Council and those of its key partners. 

• Taking account of projected demographic changes to 2026 and 
planning for future needs. 

• Focusing on core priorities  
• Presenting a prioritised set of policy options.  

The Strategy will provide a foundation of information that enables key 
decisions to be made about the future investment in swimming facilities.  

The Strategy: 

• Identifies current supply and demand issues, and provides an evidence 
base for internal investment and delivery of developer 
contributions 

• Places swimming facilities in the national, regional, and local context  

• Informs strategic planning for swimming in Torbay  

• Provides a basis for investment planning  

• Informs land use planning policy and the Local Development 
Framework  

• Informs education planning  

• Demonstrates the need for improvement of demand management for 
swimming to better optimise our available swimming resources. 

• Establish an affordable medium to long-term plan for the 
maintenance of an acceptable level of provision. 

• Determines the realistic amount of Council revenue subsidy that will 
be required to provide adequate swim provision in accordance with the 
findings of the review. 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 5

1.2 Alignment with other strategy’s 

 

Torbays Community Plan is currently being revised as the original plan, 
Turning the Tide, was launched in 2007.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pride in the Bay – Swimming is an important part of a community’s culture. 
The two community run swimming pools are a primary example of community 
volunteers coming together and having a sense of Community Pride (Big 
Society). This is only possible because of the strong community support in 
Torbay. 

Learning and skills for the future – Swimming is all about learning an 
essential life skill in a coastal town such as Torbay. Swimming provides 
learning skills at a variety of levels, from local people learning to swim to 
volunteers achieving coaching skills. At an elite level swimming is a skill for 
life and early support in training is crucial to developing athletes to compete at 
regional or national level.  

There is an explicit expectation placed on schools in the National Curriculum 
to include swimming activity and water safety in Key Stage 2. There are clear 
attainment targets including the ability to swim unaided for a distance of 25m. 
Individual schools must come to an agreement to meet this requirement and 
the majority need to organise off site instruction at a public pool or private 
facility. The loss of a local pool will result in schools having to make alternative 
arrangements that are more expensive, or less convenient, which might have 
the effect of reducing the number of swimming sessions undertaken and, by 
extension, reducing the number of pupils in Torbay reaching the attainment 
target.  

Stronger Communities – Sport, including swimming, is used to tackle a range 
of issues and is a powerful tool for bringing people together from a range 
of backgrounds. Swimming helps people to be healthier and to lead more 
independent lives by maintaining their physical and mental well being.  

The New Economy – Swimming facilities play an important role in the local 
economy. Sport makes a significant contribution to employment and sport 
and leisure is a recognised growth sector and the economic impact of sport 
is increasing.  

 

 

 

The vision ‘turning the tide’, is directed by four 
key themes Pride in the Bay, Stronger 
Communities, Learning and Skills for the 
Future and, underpinning it all, the New 
Economy. Brought together the plan focuses 
on community prosperity for all the people of 
the Bay. 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 6

 

 

 

Torbay’s Sports Facilities Strategy 2009 – identifies a shortage of 
swimming pool facilities in Torbay. Its recommendations include: 

1. Support Project Pisces, this includes dual use of enhanced swimming 
facilities developed at Westlands School, Torquay. 
2. Develop a training pool at Torbay Leisure Centre, Paignton.  
3. Identify sites for 2 more 25m local pools  
 
The vision for Project Pisces was to provide community facilities to be used to 
the advantage of the whole community within Torquay.  The project focused 
on the regeneration of the Swim Torquay site ensuring the continued 
existence of a community swimming pool. The project enhanced the provision 
through the integration of additional fitness facilities, youth spaces and 
community use. It would have provided accessible facilities for two of the most 
deprived wards in Torbay.  The vision also included improved facilities of 
delivering the sports curriculum for Westlands School. Unfortunately this 
project has been discontinued due to the extent of the vision being 
unattainable in the time frames required. Therefore the priority is to maintain 
the current provision, if we are unable to achieve this, there is a strong 
possibility of falling below the recommended water space available. 
 

 

 

ASA Facility Strategy - “From Armbands to Gold Medals” - when 
considering provision options points and objectives from this wider strategy to 
be considered are: 
 

• The provision of a minimum of 13m² of ‘fit for purpose’ water area per 
1,000 population. 

• Cross border partnerships, possibly with South Hams or Teignbridge 
Councils, to provide a community 50-metre swimming pool thereby 
reducing the overall burden of provision whilst increasing the opportunity 
for users. 

• The use of moveable floors and bulkheads to provide a more flexible use 
pool that increases revenue and enhances the use profile. 

• Upgrading of facilities to provide more 25m by 8 lane pools as a 
minimum length plus a learner pool 

• Provide traditional main pool profiles with depths from 1-metre shallow to 
1.8-metres deep to permit the widest range of pool usage. 

• Increase the number of venues suitable for competition and training 

• Increase the number of international and regional standard diving venues 

• Ensure that all schools that aspire to Sports Academy status provide 
swimming training to lifeguard qualification standard, which would require 
access to a swimming pool of variable depth with some deep water and 
be of a sufficient size to enable swimming competencies to be achieved.  

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 7

 

Section 2 

 
2 Where are we now? 
 
Torbay has a population of 134,300 people. Despite being in a very rural 
county Torbay is a heavily urbanised area. The existing community use pools 
in Torbay show an even spread around the district although there may be 
merit in distancing the two facilities in Torquay (currently the Rivera Centre 
and Swim Torquay) from each other.  
 

 
In Torbay there is an estimated 548m² (33%) deficit between the water space 

that swimming clubs, schools and low-income users have access under the 

ASA guidelines compared to the estimated 3,977m² deficit in Devon as a 

whole.  
 

 
2.1 Current swimming facility provision in Torbay 
 

 
 
 
In Torbay, 5 swimming pools have been identified, as reaching the minimum 
standards for swimming as a sport. The criteria being a minimum of 25 metres 

in length or at least 160m² in available water area. 

 

• Swim Torquay • Torquay  

• Torbay Leisure Centre • Paignton 

• Paignton Community & Sports College • Paignton 

• Admiral Swimming Centre • Brixham 

• Aztec Centre • Torquay  

 
 

Swim Torquay 

Torbay LC 

Admiral Swimming Centre 

Aztec Centre 

Riviera Centre 

Paignton College 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 8

 
 
 
 

 
The total area of swimming pool water space available in Torbay that 
swimming clubs, school, the general public and especially the low-income 
earners have access to equals 1,200m ²  on these 5 sites. Applying the ASA 
guidelines to Torbay for the current population indicates a requirement of 

1,742m² of water space leaving a deficit of 542m². 

 

 
Paignton Community & Sports College;  is an outdoor pool which is 
currently out of use as it has structural problems and is therefore not counted 
as one of the swimming pools available for community use in this strategy.  
 
The Riviera Centre; This facility is classed as a leisure pool although it does 
have 300m2 water space, which is taken into account when assessing the 
overall water space provision in Torbay. It is not counted as one of the 
swimming pools available for sports use as it is a freeform pool with wave 
machines. However the pool is available for swimming lessons. 
 
In addition it is appreciated that there are other swimming pools within Torbay, 
including; hotels, holiday parks, Splash Down water park, which all help with 
seasonal tourist demand.  Commercial health club swimming pools such as 
the Aztec Falls accommodate general ‘pay and play’ swimming for their 
membership but schools and swimming clubs rarely can gain access to this 
type of facility because of their ethos of use. School pools when available do 
provide additional facilities that relieve the pressure on school curriculum 
activities from the main community pools. 
 
Additionally some commercial health clubs have relatively exclusive 
membership criteria that tend to exclude lower socio-economic groups by 
price. Many of the hotel swimming pools are also so small that the ability to 
learn to swim a significant distance is negated rendering their water area not 
‘fit for purpose’. Some swimming pools such as the International Riviera 
Centre Waves pool are designed that large areas of the water area are 
cosmetic and again ‘unfit for purpose’ e.g. the shallow beach area of the 
leisure pool. Other pools are open-air pools (lidos) and are open for relatively 
short periods each year. 
 
The facilities available for community use in Torbay are owned or managed by 
different agencies. These include: 
 

• Schools 

• Community Providers 

• Parkwood Leisure 

• Trusts 

• Private Hotels 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 9

 
 

 
It can be seen in Appendix 5 that Sport England use a slightly different criteria 
to identify swimming pools, by using the pool length of 20metres rather than 
the 25metres that is used by the ASA and this strategy. The reason for this is 
because swimming clubs require at least 25metres in length to train and 
compete.  
 

 

 
For the purpose of this strategy the pools must be fully accessible to the 
public and available for use by all of the community, at an affordable price, 
taking in to consideration the deprived wards. 
 

 
From the 9 pools identified by Sport England only 4 are available to the public 
for community use. Only taking these 4 swimming pools into consideration 
would then show Torbay to be below the national average in provision of 
water space per 1000 head of population. 
 
It can be seen from Appendix 5 that Torbay currently compares well in the 
amount of swimming pools and water space to other local authority’s that are 
similar in size and population. However if any of the current pools identified as 
suitable for all of the community were lost this would not be the case. 
 

 
Sport England’s Pools Facility Planning Model shows that none of the 
swimming pools in Torbay are at full capacity. The capacity is there but is not 
used to its full potential due to timetabling. The timetables of the individual 
pools are planned around historical needs of users.  
 

 
2.2 Description of current community swimming facilities in Torbay: 
 
Admiral Brixham Swimming Centre - The Brixham Amateur Swimming & 
Life Saving Society was formed by a group of local community volunteers in 
the late 1920’s. In the early 70’s when it was thought unlikely that the council 
would ever be in a position to provide facilities in Brixham. The Society set out 
to build its own Indoor Heated Pool that would be ‘open to all’ when not being 
used for swimming teaching, training and competition. Society volunteers took 
three years to complete a 25m pool that proudly opened in 1975, the pool had 
cost less than £25,000.  
 
The pool was erected on a site at Astley Park in Brixham and a ground lease 
was granted by the council on an annual rental. In 1999 major defects were 
identified with the pool structure and the management committee began fund 
raising in order to enable the repairs. In September 2004 Torbay Council 
commissioned an independent survey, this identified a roof safety risk and the 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 10

pool was closed in October 2004. It reopened in August 2005 after essential 
repairs were completed, but other structural problems remained.  
 
Torbay Council Engineers identified further problems and an engineering 
consultancy firm was commissioned to carry out a full structural survey.  
 
A charitable company was formed to take over the pool management and 
major fund raising took place with money being allocated by Torbay Council, 
Sport England (ASA) and Brixham Town Council and major fund raising 
events run by the pool itself. Contractors began the £1,000,000 project in April 
2008. The structural repair work to the building was completed, the plant and 
services upgraded, the changing rooms and community room modernised. 
Disabled facilities were upgraded during this development, with an office 
extension included in the work. 
 
Activities at the pool include Aqua Tits, Canoeing, Aqua size, Squad 
swimming sessions, non swimmer sessions and private lessons including 
specific over 50 lessons. The pool provides, on average, around 50 hours of 
community use per week.  
 
Swim Torquay Ltd – The existing swimming pool at Plainmoor, is managed 
by Swim Torquay, a registered charity and is a company limited by guarantee. 
The pool was built in much the same style as Admiral Pool by groups of 
volunteers and the swimming clubs, who raised the funding required to build, 
the structure was built in the 1970’s. The building is suffering quite badly from 
structural defects, there are additional problems caused by the high costs of 
running and maintaining the inefficient plant and machinery. Work was carried 
out in 2007/2008 using a grant from the ASA as well as funding supplied by 
Torbay Council to carry out some remedial repairs and extend the plant 
rooms.  
 
Torbay Council commissioned an independent engineering company to carry 
out a structural survey, this identified many problems with some urgent works 
required to be carried out. The structure was given a useful life of 5-6 years 
following emergency works carried out by Torbay Council. So far Swim 
Torquay has not been able to attract the necessary funding to carry out all of 
the work required.  
 
The management committee are finding it extremely difficult to keep the pool 
open because of costs associated with inefficient plant and extremely high 
utility bills. The increasing maintenance costs for the plant and machinery are 
exacerbating the problem.  
 
The committee are very active fund raisers but this only usually amounts to a 
few thousand pounds not the sort of figures required. As with Admiral 
Swimming Pool, Torbay Council have stepped in with funding when required 
to ensure that the facility remains open. There is no other swimming pool 
provision in this part of Torquay for young people or the local community.  
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 11

The Swim Torquay Pool at Plainmoor is a 4 lane 25metre pool provides for 
swimming as a sport and 2 swimming clubs use this facility.  The pool is used 
to provide swimming education to a number of local schools as well as 
providing swimming lessons to all of the local community and surrounding 
areas.  
 
Programming includes sessions for parents and tots, ladies only sessions, 
senior swim sessions and stroke rehab/disabled sessions. During the school 
holidays ‘fun sessions are organised for young people. The pool is also hired 
by a private swimming group in order for them to do distance training as they 
are unable to do it in their usual hotel swimming facilities. Life saving courses, 
and other accredited training courses for those intending to become employed 
in the leisure industry are also run at Swim Torquay.  
 
Both Admiral Swimming Centre and Swim Torquay are built on public land 
owned by Torbay Council. Both organisations pay ground rent but receive rate 
relief and apply for an annual grant to contribute towards rental charges. Both 
organisations are not for profit. Both of these local swimming pools are 
managed by volunteers who do their best in extremely hard times to maintain 
the viability of the pools. Without their hard work and dedication both pools 
may have folded with the subsequent loss of facilities. 
 
Torbay Leisure Centre – The pool was built in 1976 and is 33 1/3rd metres in 
length by 12.5 metres width. In 1984 ancillary facilities were built to form 
Torbay Leisure Centre. The pool is one of few with shallow water at each end 
of 0.9m and 2m in the middle. In 1998 Torbay Council agreed to lease the 
facility to a leisure management company. The management company 
receives an annual management budget from Torbay Council towards the day 
to day repair and maintenance costs of the Leisure Centre. An agreed 
management plan has been drawn up that ensures that the residents and 
visitors to Torbay, as well as the leisure centre get good value and that their 
sport provision needs are met. A joint management board meet on a regular 
basis and a monitoring group meet on a monthly basis to ensure this 
management agreement is maintained.  
 
The International Riviera Centre – Waves Leisure Pool is managed by the 
Riviera International Conference Centre Ltd who receives an annual grant 
fund in order to secure its future. The pool is classed by Sport England as a 
leisure pool and is mainly used for recreational purposes. It does run a 
comprehensive learn to swim programme but is not suitable for club 
swimming or individuals training. The International Riviera Centre also 
receives annual funding from Torbay Council (Appendix 1). 
 
2.3 Demand for swimming pools 
 
The Sport England Sports Facility Calculator (SFC) uses information on 
facility participation and applies these to the actual population profile of the 
local area. This ensures that the calculation is sensitive to the needs of the 
people who actually live there. The SFC then turns the estimation of demand 
into actual facilities available to the number of residents. It is important to 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 12

remember that the SFC looks at demand for facilities and does not take into 
account any existing supply of facilities. 
 
The SFC can be used for both strategies planning and for individual 
developments. In both cases it can be used to show: 
 

• Current facility needs of an area 

• Future needs for facilities, based on changes in total population 

• The impact of sports development programmes and changes to 
participation rates. 

 

 
Using the calculator and inputting Torbay’s current population of 134,300 it 
identifies that Torbay requires 1,330.60 m2 of water equating to 25.05 
swimming lanes or 6.26 pools. By 2026 is estimated that Torbay’s population 
will have increased to 150,200 meaning demand will increase this requirement 
to 1,488.13 m ²  equivalent to 28.01 swimming lanes or 7 swimming pools.  
 

 
The rapid increase in the need for swimming for health reasons as opposed to 
swimming for sport also needs to be taken into consideration. These can be 
seen in Appendix 3. 
 
2.4 What we’ve done so far 

Torbay Leisure Centre and the International Riviera Centre both receive 
annual grants from Torbay Council. Both Admiral Swimming Centre and Swim 
Torquay Ltd. have received ad hoc grants from Torbay Council over the past 5 
years to help ensure their future. Further information and figures can be seen 
in Appendix 1. 

Torbay Council has worked with both of the facilities to improve usage of the 
swimming pools, particularly by hard to reach groups. These initiatives have 
included: 

In 2009 Torbay Council took up the Governments offer to provide free 
swimming to over 60s. The Government’s free swimming initiative was an 
important part of the plans to secure a long-term legacy from London hosting 
the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games - and to get more people active and 
more healthy in Torbay. As such it is recognised through the Inspire 
Programme. The Free Swimming Programme was also in support of 
Change4Life – the nationwide movement to help everyone eat well, move 
more and live longer. Torbay was granted £54,808 by the Department of 
Culture Media and Sport to provide free swimming during public swimming 
sessions at Council owned swimming pools in Torbay. In the first year in 
Torbay 5492 people over 60 years old accessed the scheme and 36,165 free 
swims were accessed across Torbay, which is 13% of Torbay’s over 60 
population. 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 13

Unfortunately this funding was only accessible to Torbay Leisure Centre and 
the Riviera International Centre. However Torbay Care Trust were keen to see 
both community swimming pools included and therefore granted £55,000 for 
this to happen. Unfortunately the Government cut their funding throughout the 
second year of the project so it had to come to an end.  

Torbay Care Trust were keen to get people who lived in the more deprived 
wards within Torbay, actively swimming. Partnership working with the Street 
Warden Service enabled the older people from these deprived wards to 
participate in the scheme, Street Wardens organised transport to take them to 
the swimming pools and receive tuition. Many of these older people can now 
swim and have teamed together to provide transport for them to be able to 
continue swimming regularly.  

Torbay Library and Leisure Card was launched in 2006 it offers Torbay 
residents reduced entry charges to a wide range of indoor and outdoor health 
and recreational activities including swimming. It is available to any resident 
who qualifies for a selected list of benefits. Swim Torquay, the International 
Riviera Centre, Torbay Leisure Centre and Admiral Swimming pool are all 
committed to the Library Leisure card offering swimming at reduced rates 
giving everyone the opportunity to participate.  

Torbay Council also worked with Swim Torquay, Admiral Brixham and Age 
Concern to hold Fit as a Fish session twice a week for people aged 50 and 
over. The sessions are tailored to the groups expectations to include 
swimming tuition, aqua aerobics and casual swimming. After each session 
coffee, tea and biscuits are offered to encourage socialising within the group. 
Age Concern also extend this to include sessions on relevant topics such as 
how to exercise for less, the digital TV switch over etc. 
 
Working in partnership with the Torbay Sports Partnership we have been able 
to offer TOPs swimming at Swim Torquay and Admiral Brixham. This involves 
extra tuition for primary school children who are struggling to attain the 
government target by Key Stage 2. It also involves extra tuition for school 
teachers allowing them to improve their standard of teaching swimming to 
their students and has proved to be an invaluable resource.  
 
Torbay Leisure Centre has been successful in placing 2 Amateur Swimming 
Association apprentices. The apprentices are aged 16 – 18 years old and 
are local people. This is part of a national initiative and is government funded 
working in partnership with both the ASA and also the Institute of Swimming. 
Each apprentice trains for; both level 1 and level 2 ASA swimming Teachers 
as well as doing the National Pool Life guard qualification. They learn on the 
job which may then lead to a job in the leisure industry. Ongoing funding will 
also be available once the course is completed if they choose to go onto a 
higher level.  
 
An ongoing issue for Swim Torquay to accessing funding to hold more 
programmes at the facility and attract new customers has been the lack of 
suitably qualified Level 2 teachers. Unfortunately due to the cost of the Level 2 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 14

qualifications two capable members of staff were unable to further their 
qualifications. Through partnership working between Torbay Council and the 
County Sports Network, Active Devon, both members of staff have now been 
granted bursaries to help fund their qualifications and go onto contribute to 
developing more “learn to swim” programmes.  
 
It is not unusual for commercial companies to operate swimming facilities 
without the need of a subsidy but if adequate and affordable community use is 
to be offered to everyone, a subsidy would probably be required. If subsidies 
are granted then conditions must be attached to the grant, these would 
include: 

• A good management agreement to ensure that the company give a 
good value for money service. 

• A place on the management boards to ensure that the subsidies 
are being used to their full potential.  

 
Community managed swimming pools have wider range of problems when 
trying ensure a good service whilst at least breaking even on running costs. 
The pools are managed by volunteers and rely on the goodwill and dedication 
of the management committee rather than the commercial need. It may be 
lack of expertise within the management team or that they have to cater for 
the main members first rather than the wider community. A subsidy is 
normally required by the pool to keep it solvent and ensure that all of the 
benefits to sport, fitness and community are continued. There is a small 
percentage of community managed pools that do not require that the facility is 
subsidised, it is not known what classification the local areas are that they 
serve nor how the need for swimming is perceived.   



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 15

2.5 Assessment of actual Torbay pools space: 

On the supply side, Sport England’s Pools Facility Planning Model (FPM), 
seen in Appendix 4, computed that Torbay has 13.4m2 of available water 
space per 1,000 population. This compares to a figure of 13.0m2 for 
England and 13.1m2 for the South West region, and represents a greater 
overall supply per 1,000 population than Plymouth or Teignbridge, but less 
than Exeter or South Hams.  

It estimated the demand for water space from the resident population of 
Torbay to be 1,263m2, and with a supply of 1,651m2 (taking into account 
hours available for community use) it concluded from the demand analysis 
that; 

 

Torbay is currently adequately provided with water space using Sport 
England’s criteria of 20m length pool as opposed to the 25m length criteria of 
ASA and sports clubs that is being used for this strategy. Local demand from 
swimming clubs suggests that, although overall provision may be adequate, 
the amount of pool time available to clubs is limited. This limits the 
capacity of clubs to assist members who wish to excel in this sport.  

 

It should also be noted that seasonal demand for swimming in particular puts 
current provision under strain.  

Although the percentage capacity seems to be high, especially at Swim 
Torquay, this could be due to customer’s expectations not being met, for 
example the building can be seen as unattractive from the outside, the 
changing facilities are inadequate or choice of activities not available. Viewing 
facilities are also poor with no ancillary facilities such as crèches or café.    

Taking these factors into account and the fact that all the swimming or pool-
based activity clubs that were spoke to indicated that they needed more pool 
time for their sport, the key issues that have been identified for Torbay are: 

 

 

• A current undersupply of 1 swimming pool unit (25m x 8-lane equivalent). 

• A predicted undersupply of 2 swimming pool units by 2026 (allowing for 
population increase to 150,200). 

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 16

Section 3 

 
Where do we want to be? 
 

 
A key objective of the Torbay Swimming Strategy is to provide Torbay with the 
right number of swimming pools, of the right quality, in the right place at an 
affordable price.  
 

 

 
Research for the Torbay Sports Strategy in 2003 concluded that: 

• Swimming is the largest participant sport in the district.  

• There is a lack of pool space to meet demand for top-up swimming 
and swimming generally within the curriculum in both primary and 
secondary schools across the district.  

• There is evidence of unmet demand after school hours for swimming 
by the general public.   

 

 
3.1 The recommendation of the more recent Sports Facility Strategy 2009 is 
that future swimming pool provision in Torbay should concentrate on the 
following:  
 

• Provision of improved facilities in Swim Torquay, Plainmoor. The 
project incorporating a 25m pool and a trainer pool would improve the 
current facilities but would only marginally increase the district’s net pool 
area. Whilst it would offer the opportunity to address social issues and 
longstanding aspirations to improve facilities in this part of Torquay, it 
would not address current shortfalls in provision, and is not well located as 
a district-wide facility.  

 

• Provision of an additional pool at Clennon Valley as part of a major 
improvement to the Torbay Leisure Centre. This would provide an 
additional training pool, but again, would not address current shortfalls.  

 

• Provision of 2 new sites to be identified to serve the need for both 
recreational and sport-based swimming.  

 
The swimming facilities in Torbay are in the right positions but are old 
buildings with ageing inefficient plant and machinery. To try and meet the 
demands required with the facilities available, good usage programming must 
be implemented, especially at the community pools. This will help meet 
demand until a new pool is built. Any new facilities built should not be stand 
alone swimming pools but should incorporate other facilities required by local 
communities. The pools should be of a design that allows a flexible use of the 
pool areas by incorporating moveable floors and bulkheads to allow more than 
one type of recreation to take place at the same time. 
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 17

 
 
 3.2 Impact of closure or loss of any pool space 
 

• Admiral Brixham Swimming Centre 
The impact of closure of Admiral Brixham Swimming Pool would mean that 
Brixham as a community would not be served for swimming provision. 
Currently all 10 Brixham schools including primary and secondary use the 
facility for young people to learn to swim. Disabled groups from Douglas 
House and the Canoe Club would no longer be able to function without this 
facility. The current swimming club based at the facility would be unable to 
relocate due to the distance to the nearest pool and lack of available pool 
space for club use. The nearest swimming pool is Shoalstone outdoor pool 
which is unsuitable for club training.  
 

• Swim Torquay Ltd. 
The impact of closure of Swim Torquay on the two current swimming clubs 
using the facility would mean that the nearest available pool is Torbay Leisure 
Centre, Paignton. The leisure centre has very little spare capacity and would 
be unable to cope with extra users. Swimming Clubs may fold as a result. 
Agencies such as Surestart, Age Concern and leisure swimming would also 
not be able to relocate for the same reason. 26 primary and secondary 
schools currently use the facility to meet their curriculum requirements for 
swimming. Closure would either prohibit the ability of schools to provide 
swimming or would severely limit their access. Closure of this pool would have 
a greater effect on swimming provision for residents from two of Torbay’s 
most deprived wards. 
 

• English Riviera Centre – Waves Leisure Pool 
The closure of the Riviera Centre leisure pool will have a negative impact on 
residents and visitors. 1 school currently use the pool due to the lack of their 
own facilities and would be unable travel to an alternative pool meaning that 
they will be unable to reach their curriculum targets fro swimming. Residents 
will have the opportunity to travel to Plainmoor, but young people, who have 
less access to transport, will be disadvantaged. Closure of the leisure pool 
would reduce the total water space by 300m2, leaving 1,222m2 water space for 
the whole of Torbay. Of this, much is privately owned sites, limiting its 

accessibility. However, many of the hotels in Torquay do allow public access 
to their pools and health clubs (e.g. Aztec Centre). Although the use of 
facilities by visitors for purely leisure purposes is beyond the scope of this 
study, the Council may wish to determine whether the level of access to these 
facilities accords with their stated aims to encourage tourism. 
 

• Torbay Leisure Centre, Paignton 
Torbay Leisure Centre is the most central pool for residents of all three towns 
of Torbay. Closure would subsequently mean the Paignton community 
would not be served for swimming provision and would have to travel to either 
Torquay or Brixham community pools. Robert Owen Communities (ROC 
Active) are based at the centre and use the pool on a daily basis to teach 
adults with learning difficulties to swim. 4 Paignton schools also use the 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 18

facility to reach their curriculum swimming standards. Paignton Swimming 
Club use the pool facilities and cater for all ages and abilities. Parkwood 
Leisure also operate a learn-to-swim programme at the centre for young 
and old and the only life saving club in Torbay.  This provision could not be 
met by other swimming pools in Torbay due to the amount of training hours 
required.  
 
Looking forward to the future both Swim Torquay and Admiral Brixham 
Swimming Centres are prime examples of the future Big Society. 
 
Quality Assessment  
 

 
The main issues for swimming in Torbay are:   
 

• A significant level of unmet demand overall.  

• The pool at Plainmoor is in need of significant investment and a 
building management programme.  

• Torbay Leisure Centre has a 33.3m indoor pool that hosts swimming 
lessons but has no training pool. This is also in need of significant 
investment into its structure. 

• Sufficient access to pool space depends upon the availability of pool 
time.  

• Brixham is well served at present with a high quality refurbished 25m 
pool x 4 lanes.  

 

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 19

Section 4 – Capital and revenue funding Issues 

 
Swimming Facilities within Torbay are provided privately either by the 
commercial sector, not for profit charitable organisations, or by local schools. 
Whoever the provider is, they are all required to find the costs to ensure the 
swimming pool is safe and remains in a suitable condition for use. The 
overhead costs for management of pools to ensure that they are safe, 
meet the customers expectations, encourage other users is generally much 
higher than those of other sports. 
 
The costs must take into account: 

• The minimum number. of staff on duty – number. of pool users  

• Chemical treatment of Water. (Water Quality) 

• Temperature of Water, Efficient Boilers/Heat exchange systems. 

• Ambient Air Temperature/Humidity requires controlling for the comfort 
of customers. 

• Costs of utilities and services. Gas/ Electricity/Water charges are 
always rising. 

• Staffing hours, most swimming clubs require early morning and late 
evening use. 

• Maintenance costs as high humidity affects the lifespan of structure 
and plant. 

• The higher standard of cleanliness required in all areas. 
 
Although all swimming pools face these costs, they have a greater affect on 
those pools run by local communities and the ability to continue the service 
provision without help. Local community pools are normally stand alone facility 
and when it serves the local community prices have to be affordable. 
 
The pools that are managed by the private sector include:  
Hotels, Torbay Leisure Centre (TLC) and Waves Leisure Pool at the Riviera 
Conference Centre (RICC). These have other profit making enterprises 
within the operation that subsidise the swimming facilities. To ensure 
that they are competitive, hotels must provide facilities to meet the minimum 
expectations of their customers and any financial loss would be met from 
allowing public use and other areas of the business. The pool provision at the 
leisure centres, TLC and RICC, can be subsidised by other activities within 
the centre that do not require such large outlays of cash. Admiral Swimming 
and Swim Torquay do not have this ability as they are both stand alone 
swimming pools. 
 
The community pools at Brixham and Torquay are managed by groups of 
volunteers who are striving to find the additional costs required to run the 
facility. Large increases in the costs of utilities, services, staffing costs 
etc have limited the management’s ability to ensure the financial 
survival of these important community facilities. Both swimming pools have 
or have had problems with the structural condition of the buildings. 
Brixham has received funding from various sources to carry out the structural 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 20

repairs and this has now been completed. Unfortunately no such funding has 
yet been found to secure the future for Swim Torquay. 
 
The financial problems at both pools are exacerbated by the inefficiency 
of the ageing plant and machinery. The energy inefficiency of the structure 
also plays a large part in increasing energy costs to control water and ambient 
temperature within the pool.  
 
The management committee’s of both swimming pools are fully aware of the 
financial problems arising from the ever increasing utility charges and are 
making every effort to increase income and lower outgoings without the 
increase in charges. They are at present fund raising by every possible 
means, as there are few opportunities to gain grants towards revenue 
costs. Other possible options are: 
 

• Raising Charges 
 There are limited options for raising the charges for the various activities 

at the pools, although a community pool has to be competitive for the 
varied courses and pool uses, as the private operators do provide similar 
activities. Affordability of any charge increase is vital as Swim Torquay 
has a catchment area that contains 2 of Torbay’s deprived wards, 
raising charges could cost more in lost revenue than it would raise. 

 

• Energy Reduction 
 Both community pools have tried to save cost by reducing the ambient 

temperature and the water. Unfortunately this had the effect of losing 
customers who complained that the facilities, and the pool itself, was too 
cold and very uncomfortable. Revenues went down. 

 

• Manpower Reduction 
 The health and safety requirements for the safe use of swimming pools 

and the staffing levels required showed that the numbers of staff 
employed was down to minimum levels. Unfortunately if the pools were 
to open for the public and if only 1 customer attended the pool, the 
management still have to supply manpower as if there were 20 
customers. Very few facilities are required to do this. 
 

The management committees, although voluntary, are fully committed to 
providing public swimming for; leisure, sport and teaching. Unfortunately they 
do not have the financial backing of the private providers, Torbay Council do 
offer financial support to the leisure centres but this is not ring fenced money 
for swimming. 
 
The provision of swimming pools will often requires financial support to ensure 
there sustainability. It is highly unlikely that they will ever become a profit 
making enterprise on a stand alone basis. They can however greatly 
enhance provision of other enterprises, such as hotels or tourism, education 
or as part of a large multisport development. Swimming pools do play an 
important part in providing a facility to meet a wide range of targets on 
fitness, child obesity, sport for all, hard to reach groups etc.  



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 21

 
Both Admiral Swimming Centre and Swim Torquay have been in financial 
difficulty since the huge increasing costs of gas and electricity suppliers. 
Unfortunately no external funders are attracted to making grants to help 
with utility bills. Swim Torquay also face the problem of having less than a 5 
year life span left for the structure of the building. External funders only 
want to be involved with facilities that are long term. 
 
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 22

 

Section 5: Summary and Conclusion 

 
Although Torbay appears to have adequate water space for swimming with all 
of the hotel provision, holiday camps etc, it is insufficient for the regular 
demand from the community users. 
 

 
The ASA have estimated that Torbay has 548m2 (33%) deficit between the 
water space that swimming clubs, schools and low-income users have 
access and the ASA’s guidelines.  
 

 
The 4 pools that are available in Torbay for community use are all suffering 
from maintenance and structural problems.  
 
The managers also have to find ways to deal with high costs of managing the 
pool in a safe and efficient manner, whilst minimising the need to increase the 
charges, which could make the unaffordable.  
 
The 2 commercially run pools can bring in expertise from within the company, 
unfortunately the 2 community run pools may not always have that ability. 
They are volunteers who do a good job and if we did not offer when required; 
help; then they could resign causing major problems with the provision of the 
pool. 
 
It would appear that the 2 community pools have done extremely well to keep 
providing the facility with little help from the council since they were built. 
 
Torbay Leisure Centre 
Although a commercial enterprise, the buildings are leased from Torbay 
Council and under the lease agreement the council have responsibilities. A 
recent condition Survey carried out by the Property Services Department 
indicates that approximately £1.5 million worth of repair work is required 
at the leisure centre. This work includes new plant and equipment as well as 
a new roof to the main building and the swimming pool. 
 

Hotels and Holiday Camps 
The majority of the private commercial pools give the following problems why 
we cannot count them towards supply: 

• They are outdoor and although fine for the summer period cannot be 
used all year around.  

•  Indoor Pools are really there to benefit the guest, would they be 
available for schools during the season. 

• They are smaller than the requirements set down for competitive 
swimming. 

• Would they be available for other pool users i.e. canoeists 

• Would they be affordable. 

• Could they be guaranteed available for use over a period of years. 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 23

 
Education  
The lack of availability of schools pools during the day is a problem for 
community users. School pools are only accessible after school hours and 
they are unable to make pool use available to these groups until out of school 
hours. 
No daytime community use is available to satisfy the demand of older 
swimmers or schools who have no facilities. No daytime access can also be a 
problem for Disabled groups and those who use the pool for medical reasons 
as they primarily use the pools during the day. Several of the school pools are 
also outdoor facilities. 
 
5.1 The way forward 
 

• Residents and Visitor Services have recently been awarded £1,200 
funding from Sport England to undertake further bench marking. A full 
report on each facility or smaller reports will be available at a cost of 
£300 each. However it may be possible for Torbay to be part of a 
national initiative which will highlight how Torbay compares with similar 
local authorities. This may enable further funding opportunities and 
inform us where we need to target future development. 

 

• Residents and Visitor Services have recently commissioned a specialist 
Structural Engineer to carry out a structural survey of Swim Torquay and 
forward several options to ensure the provision of swimming for 25 
years. The report indicates: 

 

 
Working with the Torbay Development Agency (TDA) Residents and 
Visitor Services are putting out an OJEU notice for expressions of 
interest in a major Sport Development at Clennon Valley, Goodrington. 
The requirements are for all sport but specially for the development of a 
50 m pool with associated facility such as training pools. This may take 
many years to come to fruition but could meet the future swimming 
provision of Torbay. 
 

 
A capital bid has been submitted to Torbay Council through Corporate 
Asset Management Team (CAMT), this bid if successful, would allow Torbay 
Council to fund the structural repair work to Swim Torquay as identified in the 
structural survey. The bid would also allow for the provision of new and more 
efficient plant and machinery, while enabling the structure to be re built using 
better heat retaining materials.  
 
It is recommended that both Swim Torquay and Admiral Brixham Swimming 
Centre receive an annual sustainability grant from Torbay Council of up 
to £50,000 each to meet their needs. Without this funding it is highly likely 
that these pools will close. If this is achieved both swimming pools should be 
required to enter a management agreement to ensure that they deliver what 
the council wants for the next 25years. This will include updating plant and 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 24

equipment, making the structure more energy efficient, increase usage by 
providing free or heavily subsidised use for various sections of the community 
that Torbay Council may want to target. Also s requirement to work with the 
ASA to ensure that maximum capacity is met at all times must be fullfilled. 
There is currently no budget provision for this. 
 
Currently each of the swimming facilities work alone. A Torbay Swimming 
Development Group should be considered, consisting of all Torbay’s 
swimming providers, funding experts, the Community & Voluntary Action 
(CVA), the Amateur Swimming Association (ASA) representative, the Torbay 
Development Agency (TDA), clubs and educational establishments who would 
streamline swimming development in Torbay and allow each facility to 
increase its usage and work towards their maximum potential.  
 
This group could be tasked with investigating: 
 

• other funding sources.  

• the possibility of working with the TDA to identify possible development 
opportunities. Therefore provision of a swimming pool within much 
larger sports development projects is needed. This will help minimise 
the risk of revenue costs increasing but still provide excellent facilities 
that give efficiencies, customer satisfaction and still meet educational 
needs.  

• the need for a new 25m by 8 lane swimming pool because although 
Torbay meets the needs of the population per volume of water space 
needed. The needs of the local schools and clubs are not met using 
ASA guidelines, this may only be possible with partnership working e.g. 
with education or heath. This would meet their needs but also be linked 
in with other developments to ensure sustainability with minimal costs 
to the Council e.g. new school builds. 

• funding for a full time Swimming Development Officer to work with all 
of the facilities to enhance the swimming offer in Torbay and work with 
all facility’s to maximise their usage. There is currently no budget 
provision for this post within the Council. 

  
Another option is to do nothing and hope a larger development comes in 
before facilities have to be closed. Obviously this is a huge risk as a large 
development of this type may not come to fruition in time. This would be 
detrimental to Torbay’s swimming offer. Results of any of the swimming 
pools closure can be seen in section 3.2 of this document. If any of the 
swimming pools were to close, it would be detrimental to supply demands, but 
may allow much needed funding to be diverted to the other swimming 
facilities. 

 
The final, but possibly most important, recommendation is that the is strategy 
needs to be consulted on further within the wider community to include 
the swimming providers, the Active Devon County Sport Network, Torbay 
Sports Council, Torbay Community Sports Network, and Sport England.  
 
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 25

Additional reading – Torbay Sports Facility Strategy 2009 
 Sport England’s Facilities Improvement Service 2008 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 26

 

Appendix 1; Financial contributions: 

 

Facility Year Funder Revenue 
Funding 

Capital 
Funding 

Admiral 
Swimming 
Centre 

2002 Local Development 
Fund 

 120,000 

 2008 Amateur Swimming 
Association 

 550,000 

  Torbay Council  350,000 

  Society Development 
Fund 

 85,000 

  Torbay Care Trust 15,000  

  Torbay Council  30,000 

  Brixham Town Council  25,000 

  Torbay Care Trust 5,000  

  Society Development 
Fund 

 65,000 

     

Swim Torquay 2006 Sport England  133,000 

 2006 Torbay Council  35,000 

 2009/10 Torbay Council 10,000  

 2010/11 Torbay Council 25,000  

 2011/12 Torbay Council 30,000  

     

Torbay 
Leisure Centre 

Annual 
on a 
rising 
scale 

Torbay Council 89,000 
(2010/11) 

 

English 
Riviera Centre 

Annual 
support 
grant 

Torbay Council 620,000 
(2010/11) 

 

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 27

Appendix 2           
 

The table below shows the 4 swimming pools and the facility’s capacity 
determined by the community hours available relative to the size of the 
pool. 
 
 

Name of facility Type D
im

e
n
s
io

n
s
 

A
R

E
A

 

Y
E

A
R

 
B

U
IL

T
 

Y
E

A
R

 
R

E
F
U

R
B

 

W
G

T
 

F
A

C
T
O

R
 

O
M

M
E

R
C

I
A

L
 

H
R

S
 i
n
 

N
P

P
 

Y
 H

R
S

 
A

V
A

IL
 

F
a
c
il
it
y
 

C
a
p
a
c
it
y
 -
 

v
p
w

p
p
 

 
        

        
    

13,65
3 

1 
ADMIRAL 
SWIMMING 
CENTRE Main/General 25 x 9 213 

 
 

1975 

 
 

2008 

 
 
86
% 

 
 
P 45.

5 78 

 
 

1,511 

2 
RIVIERA 
INTERNATIONAL 
CENTRE Leisure Pool 25 x 12 300 

 
 

1987 

   
 
76
% 

 
 
C 49.

5 
90.
5 

 
 

2,184 

3 

SWIM TORQUAY 
LTD Main/General 25 x 8 209 

 
1977 

 
1989 

 
54
% 

 
p 48.

5 

 
90.
1 

 
1,582 

4 

TORBAY 
LEISURE 
CENTRE Main/General 33 x 13 416 

 
 
 
1976 

   
 
 
51
% 

 
 
 
  C 49.

8 84 

 
 
 
3,236 

 
Sourced: Sport England, Torbay Pools Facility Planning Model (FPM) 2011 

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 28

 

Appendix 3; sourced by the Health Assistant 

 
Swimming for health? 
 
1. Swimming supports our health, boosts our immune system - The 
water temperature, which is in all cases of swimming training, lower than the 
average body temperature of humans which should be 36 to 37 degrees 
Celsius. The difference in temperature loads the work rate of the cardio-
vascular system. With the ability to adapt to those temperatures, We achieve 
a solid resistance to diseases, like flu and colds. It also influences our 
breathing (the colder the water the harder the breathing), which is a health 
benefit especially for patients (or swimmers) with asthma problems. 
 
2. Improve Breathing -The water pressure, which is exerted onto the human 
body (skin) increases with greater depth of the water. This effect will influence 
the blood circulation through the human body and improve one's breathing as 
this pressure concerns the lungs. 
 
3. Swimming is a sport for rehabilitation of injuries, and after operations, as 
the special gravity condition in water allows people to execute movements 
with lesser body weight 
 
4. Stress Management - We are experiencing a more and more hectic daily 
life and swimming supports the relaxation and recovery, which leads to a 
more balanced lifestyle 
 
5. It's part of the physical education and water safety - In schools 
swimming is a part of curriculum. Everyone who wants to Scuba Dive or do 
White Water Rafting has to be able to swim. 
 
6. It's a social sport - we can swim with friends or family enjoy the water and 
bond with your friends and love ones. 
 
7. Swimming is a full body exercise - It tones our entire muscle spectrum 
and it works as our fitness. 
 
8. Job requirement - Some jobs require the know-how to swim. 
 
9. Low risk of injuries - It is a sport where, if we are a beginner or an expert, 
there is very little risk of injuries. 
 
10. It's an affordable sport. - specially if you are near the beach 
 
11. It's a substitute to other sports - especially to running as it trains one's 
upper body. 
 
12. It's a competitive sport - Master's, Open Water, Triathlon. 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 29

 

Appendix 4; Pool timetables 

 
Torbay Leisure Centre 

 
Swim Torquay 

 
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 30

 
International Riviera Centre 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 31

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 32
 

Brixham Admiral Swimming Centre 



DRAFT 

 
Appendix 5: NATIONAL FACILITIES AUDIT 2011        

RUN 5C: POOLS, ITN ROAD NETWORK WITH PATH NETWORK FOR WALKERS      

        

Table 1 - Supply 
Torbay 
UA 

Bournemouth 
UA 

Southend-
on-Sea UA 

Poole 
UA 

Isle of 
Wight 
UA 

SOUTH 
WEST 
REGION 

ENGLAND 
TOTAL 

                

Number of pools 9 8 10 10 8 322 3066 

Number of pool sites 7 6 5 7 5 245 2184 

Supply of total water space in sqm 1853.5 1693 2086.5 2335.74 1554.5 72253.35 678866.67 

Supply of publicly available water space in sqm (scaled 
with hrs avail in pp) 1680.41 1527.97 1715.63 2053.8 1311.02 59403.71 564377.8 

Supply of total water space in VPWPP 13653 12415 13939 16687 10652 482655 4585568 

Waterspace per 1000 13.63 10.19 12.57 16.39 10.83 13.53 12.91 

        

Table 2 - Demand 
Torbay 
UA 

Bournemouth 
UA 

Southend-
on-Sea UA 

Poole 
UA 

Isle of 
Wight 
UA 

SOUTH 
WEST 
REGION 

ENGLAND 
TOTAL 

Population 136001 166101 166001 142501 143501 5339831 52577100 

Swims demanded –vpwpp 6982 9072 9173 7574 7251 287917 2956553 

Equivalent in waterspace – with comfort factor included  1227.56 1595.13 1612.92 1331.73 1274.92 50622.74 519833.66 

% of population without access to a car 18.7 17.1 20.1 11.7 17 13.5 19.5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
        



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 34

Table 3 - Supply/Demand Balance 
Torbay 
UA 

Bournemouth 
UA 

Southend-
on-Sea UA 

Poole 
UA 

Isle of 
Wight 
UA 

SOUTH 
WEST 
REGION 

ENGLAND 
TOTAL 

Supply -   Swimming pool provision (sqm) scaled to take 
account of hours available for community use 1680.41 1527.97 1715.63 2053.8 1311.02 59403.71 564377.8 

Demand  -  Swimming pool provision (sqm) taking into 
account a ‘comfort’ factor 1227.56 1595.13 1612.92 1331.73 1274.92 50622.74 519833.66 

Supply / Demand balance  - Variation in sqm of 
provision available compared to the minimum required 
to meet demand. 452.85 -67.16 102.71 722.07 36.1 8780.97 44544.14 

        

Table 4  - Satisfied Demand 
Torbay 
UA 

Bournemouth 
UA 

Southend-
on-Sea UA 

Poole 
UA 

Isle of 
Wight 
UA 

SOUTH 
WEST 
REGION 

ENGLAND 
TOTAL 

Total number of visits which are met  5394 8382 8316 7134 6029 258817 2667712 

% of total demand satisfied   77.3 92.4 90.7 94.2 83.1 89.9 90.2 

% of demand satisfied who travelled by car 84.9 76.8 73.4 83.1 83.2 81.7 73.6 

% of demand satisfied who travelled by foot 8.4 12.3 13.7 10.9 9.7 12 16.3 

% of demand satisfied who travelled by public transport 6.7 10.9 12.9 6 7.2 6.3 10.1 

Demand Retained 4813 7096 6943 6286 6029 256288 0 

Demand Retained -as a % of Satisfied Demand  89.2 84.7 83.5 88.1 100 99 0 

Demand Exported 581 1286 1373 847 0 2529 0 

Demand Exported -as a % of Satisfied Demand  10.8 15.3 16.5 11.9 0 1 0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
        



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 35

Table 5 - Unmet Demand 
Torbay 
UA 

Bournemouth 
UA 

Southend-
on-Sea UA 

Poole 
UA 

Isle of 
Wight 
UA 

SOUTH 
WEST 
REGION 

ENGLAND 
TOTAL 

Total number of visits in the peak, not currently being 
met 1587 691 858 441 1222 29100 288841 

Unmet demand as a % of total demand 22.7 7.6 9.3 5.8 16.9 10.1 9.8 

Equivalent in Water space m2  - with comfort factor 279.09 121.42 150.77 77.46 214.85 5116.4 50785.25 

 % of Unmet Demand due to ;               

    Lack of Capacity - 1.3 1.1 0.0 0.4 0.0 3.9 7.0 

    Outside Catchment - 98.7 98.9 100.0 99.6 100.0 96.1 93.0 

Outside Catchment;  98.7 98.9 100.0 99.6 100.0 96.1 93.0 

  % Unmet demand who do not have access to a car 72.9 90.8 93.7 84.2 72.7 64.1 74.6 

  % of Unmet demand who have access to a car 25.8 8.1 6.3 15.4 27.3 32 18.4 

Lack of Capacity; 1.3 1.1 0.0 0.4 0.0 3.9 7.0 

  % Unmet demand who do not have access to a car 0.1 1.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.3 5.1 

  % of Unmet demand who have access to a car 1.2 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.6 1.8 

        

Table 6 - Used Capacity 
Torbay 
UA 

Bournemouth 
UA 

Southend-
on-Sea UA 

Poole 
UA 

Isle of 
Wight 
UA 

SOUTH 
WEST 
REGION 

ENGLAND 
TOTAL 

Total number of visits used of current capacity  5482 9167 8413 8436 6029 258712 2667964 

% of overall capacity of pools used 40.2 73.8 60.4 50.6 56.6 53.6 58.2 

% of visits made to pools by walkers 8.3 11.2 13.6 9.3 9.7 12 16.3 

% of visits made to pools by road 91.7 88.8 86.4 90.7 90.3 88 83.7 

Visits Imported;               

Number of visits imported 669 2072 1471 2150 0 2424 0 

As a % of used capacity 12.2 22.6 17.5 25.5 0 0.9 0 

Visits Retained:               

Number of Visits retained 4813 7096 6943 6286 6029 256288 0 

As a % of used capacity 87.8 77.4 82.5 74.5 100 99.1 0 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 36

        

Table 7 - Relative Share 
Torbay 
UA 

Bournemouth 
UA 

Southend-
on-Sea UA 

Poole 
UA 

Isle of 
Wight 
UA 

SOUTH 
WEST 
REGION 

ENGLAND 
TOTAL 

Score - with 100 = national share 99 86 109 112 82 107 100 

 +/- from National share -1 -14 9 12 -18 7 0 



DRAFT 

Appendix 6; ASA Sub Regional/Regional/Local Authority Swimming Pool Facility Review for Torbay                                                                          

Current Status of Region 

          Summary Report on All Swimming Pools in Torbay                                                           Population of South West Region by County 

 

Main/General 11          

Leisure Pools 2            

Learner/Teaching/Training 9           

Diving 0               

Lido 18           

Swimming Pools - Total 40           

Swimming Pool Sites 28 

 

 

 

        

  

South West Region Counties Population 

Devon (including Plymouth and Torbay) 1,074,919  

Torbay 129,706 

South West - Total Population 4,928,458 

South West Region Water space that swimming clubs, 

schools and low-income users have 

access - m² 

Devon (including Plymouth and Torbay) 9,997 

Torbay 1,138 

Total South West Region  57,373 

    Age profile of population of Torbay. 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 38

 
 

Torbay     
There is an estimated 548m² (33%) deficit between the water space that swimming clubs, schools and low-income users have 
access and the ASA’s guidelines. 

Devon (including Plymouth and Torbay) 

There is an estimated 3,977m² (28%) deficit between the water space that swimming clubs, schools and low-income users have 
access 

South West Region 

Applying the ASA guidelines to South West Region for the current population of 4,928,458 indicates a requirement of 64,070m² of 
water space. There is an estimated 6,697m² (10%) deficit between the water space that swimming clubs, schools and low-income 
users have 
access and the ASA’s guidelines. 
 
 

Symbol Range(Numbers)  



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 39

 
 

The South West Region is the seventh largest in terms of population and fourth largest in terms of geographical area. 

The Region has eight County Sports Partnerships that are required to consult with the NGB’s when formulating their regional 
strategies in general and in their relationship with the Building Schools for the Future programme. These are: 
 
  Sports West Partnership 
  Cornwall Sports Partnership 
  Active Devon Sports Partnership (includes Torbay) 
  Somerset Activity and Sports Partnership 
  Active Dorset 

 1 - 6  

 7 - 11  

 12 - 16  

 17 - 20  

 21 - 24  

This thematic map is based upon the 
count of Swimming Pool of 
Opening/Ownership Group Community 
use, except commercial in South West 
Region using data ranges derived from 

South West Region 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 40

  Wiltshire and Swindon Activity Sports Partnership 
  Active Gloucestershire 
  West of England Sport Trust 
 
Finally the South West Region has 159 affiliated ASA swimming clubs, with 24,114 registered members. With 127 x 25-
metre swimming pools, 14 x 33.3-metre swimming pools and 2 x 50-metre pool in the region this suggests that a 
swimming club is operating out of every available training pool and that the only restriction to increasing the amount of 
swimming club time is pool availability! 
 

Sport England’s Sports Facility Calculator  

(This is based on nominal usage rates at peak times and does not take into account ‘latent demand’. The number of swimming 
pool lanes and the number of swimming pools refers to a notional 25m x 8.5m four-lane facility) 
 

The Sport England Sports Facility Calculator was devised to assist local planners identify the sports facility requirements in 
‘new development’ scenarios and was not intended as an indicator of total area provision either ‘minimum’ or ‘maximum’. The 
local facility requirement can only be ascertained taking into account local demographic variations and overlaying them onto the 
general guidance provided within the Active Power tools resource.  

 

Local Strategic Planning 

Sport England has provided the Active Places database resource as an aide to planning local facility strategy. The database 
provides the total amount of swimming pool water space available in a given area. However it is important when planning a 
local strategy to be aware that the water space identified cannot always be accessed by certain significant swimming pool 
users, e.g. schools, swimming clubs and economically disadvantaged users. 

 
       The sub-divisions provided within the database do not necessarily reflect the types of pool that certain users can access. 
 
  Active Places Sub-divisions of providers are: 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 41

 
a. Community use, all ownership types 
b. Community use, commercial ownership 
c. Community use, except commercial ownership 
d. Community use, local authority ownership 

 
       For example: 
 
� Commercial health club swimming pools accommodate general ‘pay and play’ swimming for their membership but schools 

and swimming clubs rarely can gain access to this type of facility because of their ethos of use. Additionally some 
commercial health clubs have relatively exclusive membership criteria that tend to exclude lower socio-economic groups by 
price. 
� Some pools are so small that the ability to learn to swim a significant distance is negated rendering their water area not ‘fit 

for purpose’ (see county anomalies). 
� Some swimming pools are so designed that large areas of the water area are cosmetic and again ‘unfit for purpose’ e.g. the 

shallow beach areas of a leisure pool (see county anomalies). 
� Some swimming pools are open-air pools (lidos) and are open for relatively short periods each year. 

      
Additionally Sport England’s Active Places Database identifies swimming pools into five types of swimming pool. 
 

Main/General – this term can be applied to any pool of any dimension as the list of pools demonstrates, this term should 
therefore be used with caution. 
Learner/Teaching/Training – Although a learner and teaching pool can be the same thing, a training pool is usually not a  
learner/teaching pool unless it has a moveable floor. The relevance of Learner and Teaching pools usually relate to their  
depth and dimensions suitable to the swimmer being taught; whereas training pools require sufficient depth for  
swimming in training mode, which is usually deeper than the depth required for teaching the largest percentage of  
learner i.e. children.  
Leisure – From the data it is clear that the term leisure pool means different things to different pool operators. Hotels and 
Health Clubs think in terms of small shallow free form pools of less than 100m²; whereas operators such as Butlins and 
Centre Parcs 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 42

and some local authorities see leisure pools in terms of giant free form pool in excess of 1,000m². This term should  
therefore be used with caution.. 
 Diving – Although the term diving pool denotes a sufficient depth for diving there is nothing in the data set to identify the 
configuration 
of any boards in situ, which is surely the point of the pool. 
 Lido – although it is clear that a lido is an outdoor pool the definition does not identify what use the pool can be put to and 
whether it Is heated and permits longer opening hours than the usual summer season attributed to an unheated pool. 

 
Taking these variables into account the ASA’s consider, as a minimum requirement, 13m² of ‘fit for purpose’ pool water area per 
1,000 head of population that the majority of users (general swimmers, schools, swimming clubs etc.) can access.  

       (The guideline of 13m² is based on the concept of providing a 25m x 5 lane swimming pool or a 25m x 4 lane pool with an 
additional learner pool with a water area ‘fit for purpose’ for a wide range of user activities, for every 20,000 of the population, this 
also reflects the current national average level of supply.) 
 
Although Active Places indicates whether or not there is spectator seating it provides no indication regarding the number and 
positioning of the seats therefore there is insufficient data to determine if a venue is suitable to hold competitive spectator events. 
Generally the majority of commercial facilities have insufficient spectator seating to accommodate main swimming club activities. 
 

Examples of anomalies of water area provision that are indigenous to all regions and counties: 
� The majority of commercial pool provision does not provide conventional divisions of a 100m length and their use is 

therefore diminished for club training even if access is achieved. Additionally many commercial pools are too small for 
meaningful training. 
� Commercial health and fitness clubs prefer constant depth pools varying between 1.2m and 1.4m deep, which is acceptable 

for fitness swimming but is restrictive for the teaching of swimming to children, which normally requires shallower depths 
between 0.5m and 1m. (See LA Fitness, Club Moativation, Fitness Express, Cannons Health Clubs, Virgin and David Lloyd 
Clubs in particular) 
� Some leisure pools have as much as 30% of water area provision that is unsuitable for any form of swimming because of 

their ‘beach’ access, where the water is only at paddling depth. 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 43

ASA Facility Strategy Guidelines 

 
Swimming pool providers should refer to the ASA’s facility strategy document “From Armbands to Gold Medals” when 
considering provision options. However points and objectives to consider are: 

 
� The provision of a minimum of 13m² of ‘fit for purpose’ water area per 1,000 population. 
� Within the regional strategies where appropriate local authorities should be encouraged to enter into cross border 

partnerships to provide community 50-metre swimming pools thereby reducing the overall burden of provision whilst 
increasing the opportunity for users. 
� The use of moveable floors and bulkheads provides a more flexible use pool that increases revenue and enhances the 

use profile. 
� Encouraging the upgrading of facilities to provide more 25m by 8 lane pools as a minimum length plus a learner pool 
� Recommending to pool providers that they provide traditional main pool profiles with depths from 1-metre shallow to 1.8-

metres deep to permit the widest range of pool usage. 
� Increasing the number of venues suitable for competition and training 
� Increasing the number of international and regional standard diving venues 
� Ensuring that all schools that aspire to Sports Academy status provide swimming training to lifeguard qualification 

standard, which would require access to a swimming pool of variable depth with some deep water and be of a sufficient 
size to enable swimming competencies to be achieved.  

 

Shortfall provision options: 
 
� A 25m x 8.5m - 4 x 2m lane swimming pool provides 212.5m² of water space 
� A 25m x 12.5m – 6 x 2m lane swimming pool provides 312.5m² of water space 
� A 25m x 12.5m – 6 x 2m lane swimming pool plus learner pool 8m x 12.5m provides 412.5m² of water space. 
� A 25m x 16.5 – 8 x 2m lane swimming pool provides 412.5m² of water space 
� A 25m x 16.5 – 8 x 2m lane swimming pool plus learner pool 16.5m x 10m provides 577.5m² of water space. 
� A 25m x 20.5m – 10 x 2m lane swimming pool provides 512.5m² of water space 

� A 25m x 20.5m – 10 x 2m lane swimming pool plus learner pool 20.5m x 10m provides 717.5m² of water space. 
� A 50m x 17m – 8 x 2m lane swimming pool provides 850m² of water space 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 44

� A 50m x 17m – 8 x 2m lane swimming pool plus learner pool 17m x 10m provides 1,020m² of water space 
 

(The option that is chosen should best reflect the needs of the general community it is to serve and consider the age and estimated 
life of existing facilities and the demographics and travel and transport issues of the area. As indicated above the use of moveable 
floors and booms can increase flexibility of use and may reduce water area accordingly. 50-metre pools designed for major and 
international competition would require 2.5-metre lanes) 
 

                         
 
Despite being in a very rural county Torbay is a heavily urbanised area. 
 
 
                                                             
 

The existing community use pools in Torbay show an even spread around the district although there may be merit in distancing the two 

facilities in Torquay (currently the Riviera Centre and Swim Torquay) from each other. 

Symbol Range 

 Urban > 10K  

 
Town and 
Fringe  

 Village  

 Hamlet & Isolated Dwelling  

 

Swim Torquay 

Riviera 

Centre 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 45

     There is an estimated 542m² (31%) deficit between the water space that swimming clubs, schools and low-income users have 
access and  
     The ASA’s guidelines or the equivalent of one 25m x 16.5 – 8 x 2m lane swimming pool plus learner pool 16.5m x 10m provides 
577.5m² of  
     water space. 
 
     The above estimate does not take into account: 
 

� Any anticipated future population variations in the area 
� Any anticipated variations to the future school places demand in the area 
� Government initiatives to increase sports participation 
� Population increases since 2009 Census 

 
Taken as a whole these variables will tend to increase shortfalls and decrease surpluses. 

 

Age and attractiveness of swimming pool stock 

 
20% of the current swimming pool stock is over 30 years old; and therefore is not a significant issue. However of the 5 sites that 
are available for swimming clubs, schools and low-income users 3 (60%) are over 30 years old and this is a significant 
issue that needs to be addressed. 
 
+81% of the swimming pool provision is provided by commercial organisations, which normally prohibit access to swimming clubs 
and school use. This high % reflects the tourist nature of the area and county and this is not surprising. Given this large commercial 
contribution to the swimming stock there should be a recognition that the local authority does not need to provide leisure water for 
tourism as it is being adequately catered for already. There is therefore every indication that the local authority should concentrate 
on providing swimming facilities for the local residents whose main priorities will be learning to swim, fitness swimming and exercise 
classes, school swimming and club and other hire activities. Consideration should also be given to the above average aged 
population of the district and the need to programme for the over 50’s fitness swimming demand. 
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 46

There are 3 x 25-metre short course length swimming pool is Torbay suitable for club use. 
There are no 50-metre community swimming pools in Torbay. 
 
Aquatic disciplines 
 
 Diving –  

There are 3 swimming pools with a water depth sufficient for poolside flat competitive and plunge dives can be taught safely. 
              There are no swimming pools with diving boards and springboards where more advanced diving can be taught.  
                 
 Synchronised Swimming –  
 The teaching and practice of the most basic introductory water skills may be carried out in pools which have areas of water 
of 1.0m or  
              more in depth. 

There are 3 swimming pools that have sufficient depth for synchronised swimming training to be undertaken 
There are no swimming pools with sufficient depth and area for synchronised swimming competition to be undertaken. 

 

 Water Polo – 

Ideally Water Polo should be played in pitches with a minimum depth of 1.8m however low-level training and competition can 
take place in conventional 25m x 10m x 0.9m to 1.8m depth main pools. 

 There are 1 swimming pools that have sufficient water space and depth for low-level water polo competition to take place. 
 There are no swimming pools that have sufficient water space and depth for a major competition to take place. 
 

Travel times and other geographical issues 

 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 47

 
 

Apart from congested periods travel around the District takes a relatively short time and no resident needs to travel further than 10 
minutes by care to a facility. 
 

Options 

 

Time to the Nearest site 

 
Facility type: Swimming Pool 

Sub Facility Type:  All 

Local Authority: Torbay 

Travel Type: Travel Time 

Mode of Travel:  By Car 

 

Symbol Range (minutes)  Site count 

  2.85 - 4.16   148 

  4.17 - 5.47   157 

  5.48 - 6.78   75 

  6.79 - 8.09   52 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 48

The Amateur Swimming Association would wish to see the swimming pool stock in Torbay increased in line with the national 
average and the recommended level of water area by the addition of one new pool together with the replacement of any existing 
pools that are past refurbishment. 
 
Based on the current provision and the Council’s key objectives (a) to ensure the majority of children in Torbay have the ability to 
swim sufficiently for them to be safe in a water recreational tourist area, and (b) to meet the National Curriculum Learn to swim 
targets, and (c) to consider a developed 50+ fitness swimming programme it is clear what type of swimming pool is most beneficial 
for the area. 
 
Comprehensive Learn to Swim programmes require a significant area of shallow water and a heavy commitment of time during 
school hours and the early evening. Fitness swimming requires a straight section of pool water 20-metres to 25-metres long with a 
depth to accommodate adult swimming of approximately 1-metre plus. 
 
A major dissatifier is the inability to provide some un-programmed swimming for other swimmers during these periods. It is 
important therefore to have at least one swimming pool that is sufficiently large enough to be divided into swimming 
lesson/school/club use on one side and un-programmed public swimming, or fitness swimming on the other. 
 
To achieve this the minimum configuration is a 25-metre x 12.5-metre (6 lane) swimming pool, shallow end depth 0.9m, deep end 
depth 1.8m, with an additional learner/teaching pool approximately12.5m x 10m. This would enable at least 2 lanes to be kept aside 
for public lane swimming during most other periods of use. 
 
This type of pool would also be suitable for low level water polo competition, synchronised swimming training and the teaching of 
plunge dives from the deep end of the main pool. 
 
An even better configuration, which allows the public to use half of the pool whilst lessons and schools are using the facility is a 
25m x 16.5 – 8 x 2m lane swimming pool plus learner pool 16.5m x 10m provides 577.5m² of water space. 
 
Although the Amateur Swimming Association is not opposed to leisure water in principle it holds the view that such water space is 
of little use for any of the prime uses of a swimming pool and is best suited for ‘play’ use only. 
 



 

Torbay’s Swimming Strategy 2011 49

Given the current small percentage of water space provided by the local authority and the near comparable water space provided 
by small local Trusts it is clearly in the interest of the Local Authority to ensure that the trusts continue to operate effectively as they 
are providing a significant savings to the council. 
 

Footnote: 
Most of the data in this review has been extracted from Sport England’s Active Places database. Although it is undoubtedly the 
most comprehensive database of sports and recreational facilities and in particular swimming pools nevertheless there are 
significant errors and omissions. When working on the database it becomes apparent that a significant number of school swimming 
pools have yet to be added, maybe as many as 20%. There are also a significant number of facilities still on the database that are 
identified as closed or as planned. All in all there is probability about a 10% inaccuracy facto



DRAFT 

 



 

A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 R
e
v
ie
w
 (
O
S
B
/1
2
/1
0
) 
–
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 A
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 M

a
y
o
r 

 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

4
.1
 

T
h
a
t 
th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 c
h
a
in
 

w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 (
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 )
 a
re
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

a
re
a
 m

a
n
a
g
e
rs
 w
it
h
 a
 

v
ie
w
 t
o
 u
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
is
 

p
a
n
e
l 
in
 s
ix
 m

o
n
th
s
 t
im
e
 

w
h
e
n
 f
u
tu
re
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 

le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

in
fo
rm

e
d
. 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 i
n
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 a
 r
e
d
ra
ft
 o
f 
th
e
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
l,
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 

a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

 

S
ix
 m

o
n
th
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

H
e
a
d
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
  

Y
e
s
 

T
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
s
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 

re
d
ra
ft
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
s
 

w
e
ll 
a
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 f
u
tu
re
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

 It
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 A
u
tu
m
n
 

2
0
1
1
 i
n
 c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 d
ra
ft
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 

 

4
.2
 

T
h
a
t 
a
 c
ro
s
s
 s
e
c
to
r 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 p
la
n
 i
s
 p
u
t 
in
 

p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 s
h
a
re
d
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

to
 b
e
tt
e
r 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
n
tr
a
te
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
d
u
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

e
ff
o
rt
s
. 

A
s
 a
b
o
v
e
  

S
ix
 m

o
n
th
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

H
e
a
d
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

Y
e
s
 

A
s
 a
b
o
v
e
 

4
.3
 

T
h
a
t 
th
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 

th
e
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
in
c
e
n
ti
v
e
s
 f
o
r 
la
n
d
lo
rd
s
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
v
e
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 
6
-9
 m

o
n
th
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

Y
e
s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 

Agenda Item 7



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 

is
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 a
s
 a
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 

in
to
 f
u
tu
re
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
, 

p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
. 

 

b
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 

P
ri
v
a
te
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 A
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
, 

m
a
x
im
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
e
m
p
ty
 

h
o
m
e
s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 u
s
e
 a
n
d
 

e
x
p
lo
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
a
 m

o
re
 h
o
lis
ti
c
 

le
tt
in
g
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
, 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

re
p
a
ir
s
, 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 g
re
a
te
r 
s
ta
b
ili
ty
 f
o
r 

te
n
a
n
ts
. 
 A
 w
o
rk
a
b
le
 s
o
lu
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 

re
q
u
ir
e
 g
ra
n
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
. 

 

⇒
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

le
tt
in
g
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
, 
in
 

c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 e
m
p
ty
 h
o
m
e
s
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
  

⇒
 
A
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 w
o
u
ld
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 f
ro
m
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
, 
b
u
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
s
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
g
ra
n
t 

fu
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

d
is
c
h
a
rg
in
g
 d
u
ty
 i
n
to
 

p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 o
f 
th
a
t 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 a
t 
fo
c
u
s
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 t
h
is
 

le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 p
ilo
ti
n
g
 a
 1
2
 

m
o
n
th
 r
e
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 
fu
tu
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 n
e
e
d
s
. 

 E
m
p
ty
 h
o
m
e
s
 u
p
d
a
te
 –
  

F
o
llo
w
in
g
 C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
 (
s
e
e
 

p
a
ra
g
ra
p
h
 4
.1
5
 b
e
lo
w
) 

it
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 a
 t
a
rg
e
t 
fo
r 

b
ri
n
g
in
g
 e
m
p
ty
 h
o
m
e
s
 

b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 u
s
e
, 
a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fu
n
d
in
g
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
, 
L
o
c
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
O
rd
e
rs
 e
tc
  

a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 

4
.4
 

A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 

a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

W
o
rk
 h
a
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 t
h
is
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 

T
h
re
e
 m

o
n
th
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

Y
e
s
 

P
ri
n
c
e
 2
 P
ro
je
c
t 
g
ro
u
p
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
re
n
t 
g
u
a
ra
n
te
e
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 m

o
v
e
 

to
w
a
rd
s
 a
 m

o
re
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 

s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
it
h
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 

la
n
d
lo
rd
s
 a
n
d
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
. 

 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 b
e
in
g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 t
h
ir
d
 

p
a
rt
y
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
 s
u
b
 

re
g
io
n
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

to
 a
n
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
p
ri
v
a
te
 r
e
n
te
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

–
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 

 P
ro
p
o
s
e
 t
o
 w
id
e
n
 s
c
o
p
e
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

c
a
re
 l
e
a
v
e
rs
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 i
n
c
e
n
ti
v
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 

a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 g
ro
u
p
 f
o
r 

c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
) 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
A
im
in
g
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 a
n
d
 m

a
k
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
y
 

D
e
c
 2
0
1
1
. 
 

4
.5
 

S
y
s
te
m
s
 a
re
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 a
ll 
fu
tu
re
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 i
s
 

n
e
e
d
s
 d
ri
v
e
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

a
c
c
u
ra
te
 a
n
d
 r
o
b
u
s
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
. 

 

T
h
is
 w
o
rk
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 t
ie
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 w
o
rk
 o
f 
th
e
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
  
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 

s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

re
fr
e
s
h
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 m

a
rk
e
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(£
3
0
K
),
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 n
o
t 

b
u
d
g
e
te
d
, 
s
o
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 w
ill
 f
o
c
u
s
 

o
n
 m

o
re
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

re
g
is
te
r 
a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
la
te
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

n
e
e
d
s
. 
 T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 

w
it
h
 s
u
b
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
s
to
c
k
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 w
o
rk
 l
e
d
 b
y
 P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

 Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 D
e
v
o
n
 w
id
e
 c
h
o
ic
e
 

T
h
re
e
 m

o
n
th
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
r,
  

 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

H
e
a
d
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

Y
e
s
 

O
R
S
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 t
o
 

th
e
 2
0
0
7
 E
x
e
te
r 
a
n
d
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 M

a
rk
e
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(t
h
e
 

“S
H
M
A
”)
. 
  

T
h
is
 i
s
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 

re
v
is
e
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 

 B
a
k
e
r 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
 a
re
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 a
 



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

b
a
s
e
d
 l
e
tt
in
g
s
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 

re
p
o
rt
 o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

v
ia
b
ili
ty
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

In
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 

P
la
n
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 r
e
fr
e
s
h
 

th
e
 2
0
0
8
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

v
ia
b
ili
ty
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
h
a
t 

B
a
k
e
r 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
s
 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
in
 2
0
0
8
. 
 I
t 

w
ill
 h
e
lp
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

in
s
e
tt
in
g
 a
 C
IL
 a
s
 w
e
ll 

a
s
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
n
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 b
y
 P
P
S
3
 (
p
a
ra
 

2
9
).
  
D
ra
ft
 d
u
e
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
1
. 
F
in
a
l 

re
p
o
rt
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
1
. 

  
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 n
e
e
d
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 p
e
r 

p
o
s
tc
o
d
e
.W

o
rk
 i
n
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
p
u
t 
in
to
 

J
S
N
A
 

4
.6
 

T
h
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 g
ra
n
t 

fu
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 

in
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
h
ig
h
lig
h
t 

T
h
is
 i
s
 a
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
T
D
A
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
s
s
e
t 
b
a
c
k
e
d
 

v
e
h
ic
le
 a
n
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

6
 m

o
n
th
s
 

A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

Y
e
s
 

U
p
d
a
te
 U
n
a
v
a
ila
b
le
  



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

th
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 u
s
e
 o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

la
n
d
 a
s
s
e
ts
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

fu
tu
re
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
, 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
a
n
e
l 
w
o
u
ld
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 a
 f
o
rm

a
lis
e
d
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 p
u
t 

in
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
h
is
 

w
o
rk
. 

th
e
 N
e
w
 H
o
m
e
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
, 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 I
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

P
la
n
. 
 C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 

to
 u
s
in
g
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

h
o
m
e
s
 b
o
n
u
s
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 g
e
n
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

th
is
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

4
.7
 

In
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
R
e
fo
rm

s
, 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
a
n
d
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

b
ro
u
g
h
t 
a
b
o
u
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 

re
fo
rm

s
. 

 

T
h
e
 t
w
o
 k
e
y
 r
e
fo
rm

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
lis
m
 

B
ill
 a
re
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 L
A
 l
e
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

p
o
lic
y
 o
n
 b
o
th
 t
e
n
u
re
 r
e
fo
rm

 a
n
d
 a
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 p
o
lic
y
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 

re
q
u
ir
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
o
ff
ic
e
r 
ti
m
e
, 
e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
 

a
t 
0
.5
 f
te
 f
o
r 
9
-1
2
 m

th
s
. 
E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 

ti
m
e
s
c
a
le
 f
ro
m
 6
 m

th
s
 t
o
 g
e
t 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 

to
 b
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 /
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
d
 

D
e
v
o
n
 w
id
e
. 

9
-1
2
 m

o
n
th
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

Y
e
s
 

D
ra
ft
 D
e
v
o
n
 w
id
e
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
/ 

w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 i
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
. 

L
o
c
a
l 
te
n
a
n
c
y
 p
o
lic
y
 

w
o
rk
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

e
a
rl
y
 2
0
1
2
, 
- 
in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 

B
ill
 t
im
e
s
c
a
le
s
. 

4
.8
 

T
h
e
 i
n
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
ta
ff
 i
s
 

re
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 a
s
 a
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 

s
te
p
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
a
n
e
l 
b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 

h
e
lp
 s
tr
e
a
m
lin
e
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

b
e
s
t 
fi
t 
fo
r 
a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
. 
 C
u
rr
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 t
e
a
m
 

w
it
h
in
 T
D
A
 a
re
 1
2
 m

o
n
th
s
 b
e
h
in
d
 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le
. 
  

 R
e
v
ie
w
 S
L
A
’s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 /
 

3
 m

o
n
th
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

H
e
a
d
 S
p
a
ti
a
l 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

Y
e
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 l
a
n
d
 

a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
re
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 n
o
te
d
 a
b
o
v
e
. 
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 

2
0
1
0
 t
o
 a
llo
w
 m

ix
e
d
 

u
s
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 
o
n
 



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

a
n
d
 s
ti
m
u
la
te
 n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
h
ile
 

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 c
ro
s
s
 s
e
c
to
r 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 r
u
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

h
o
m
e
s
. 
In
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

re
c
e
n
t 
tr
a
n
s
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

th
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 

in
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 
th
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 p
a
n
e
l 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 b
e
s
t 
fi
t 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
. 
  

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 T
D
A
 a
n
d
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
 f
o
r 

n
e
x
t 
1
2
 m

o
n
th
s
 

  

la
n
d
 a
llo
c
a
te
d
 f
o
r 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
u
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

s
a
v
e
d
 L
o
c
a
l 
P
la
n
. 
 

T
h
e
s
e
 s
it
e
s
 (
Y
a
lb
e
rt
o
n
 

R
o
a
d
, 
H
o
lly
 G
ru
it
, 

W
h
it
e
 R
o
c
k
, 

B
o
o
k
h
a
m
s
) 
c
o
u
ld
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
in
 t
h
e
 o
rd
e
r 
o
f 

9
0
0
 h
o
m
e
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

m
ix
e
d
 u
s
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
. 
  

4
.9
 

R
e
n
e
w
e
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 

s
o
o
n
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 a
n
d
 a
n
 

in
it
ia
l 
tw
o
 y
e
a
r 
s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

p
la
n
 i
s
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 a
s
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
. 
T
h
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 f
o
rm

a
lis
e
d
 

c
ro
s
s
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
; 
d
e
ta
il 
h
o
w
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

S
e
e
 4
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
  

 S
u
g
g
e
s
t 
m
e
d
iu
m
 t
e
rm

 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 t
ie
 i
n
 

w
it
h
 p
o
lit
ic
a
l 
c
y
c
le
 

6
 m

o
n
th
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

H
e
a
d
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 

Y
e
s
 

S
e
e
 4
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
 



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

m
a
x
im
is
e
d
; 
a
n
d
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 h
o
w
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
re
 u
s
e
d
 m

o
s
t 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

4
.1
0
 

T
h
a
t 
R
S
L
s
 b
e
 f
o
rm

a
lly
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
in
 

th
e
ir
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
s
 t
h
e
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 D
F
G
 o
n
 

th
e
ir
 o
w
n
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
. 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 

1
 m

o
n
th
 

P
ri
v
a
te
 

S
e
c
to
r 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

Y
e
s
 

S
a
n
c
tu
a
ry
 a
n
d
 

W
e
s
tC
o
u
n
tr
y
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 h
a
v
e
 b
o
th
 

s
ig
n
e
d
 t
h
e
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 
a
n
d
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 n
o
w
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 

th
e
ir
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
s
 –
 

fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 £
1
3
0
,0
0
 

s
in
c
e
 A
p
ri
l’1
1
 f
ro
m
 o
n
e
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 d
ir
e
c
t 
in
to
 

a
d
a
p
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 s
to
c
k
. 

R
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

th
e
 b
o
a
rd
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 

th
is
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
n
e
x
t 
y
e
a
r.
 

O
th
e
r 
a
re
a
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
 o
f 

ra
te
s
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 
T
o
 

g
e
t 
b
e
tt
e
r 
V
F
M
 

4
.1
1
 

A
n
y
 D
F
G
 g
ra
n
t 
o
r 
o
th
e
r 

ty
p
e
 o
f 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 b
e
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 

o
n
 b
re
a
k
in
g
 o
f 
g
ra
n
t 

c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 

T
h
e
re
 a
re
 c
o
n
fl
ic
ti
n
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

w
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
n
d
 /
 

a
p
p
o
rt
io
n
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
c
a
p
it
a
l 
re
c
e
ip
ts
 t
h
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 n
e
g
a
te
d
 t
h
is
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 b
e
in
g
 

e
n
a
c
te
d
. 

im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

H
e
a
d
 

F
in
a
n
c
e
, 

C
A
M
T
 

Y
e
s
 

U
p
d
a
te
 U
n
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

T
e
a
m
 f
o
r 
re
c
y
c
lin
g
 i
n
 t
o
 

fu
tu
re
 D
F
G
 o
r 
o
th
e
r 

w
o
rk
s
. 
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is
 w
a
s
 

a
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 b
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
in
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
, 
th
is
 

h
a
s
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 d
o
n
e
. 

 A
c
ti
o
n
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
 w
it
h
 S
1
5
1
 

o
ff
ic
e
r 
a
n
d
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H
e
a
d
 F
in
a
n
c
e
 

4
.1
2
 

E
a
rl
y
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 w
o
rk
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 t
e
a
m
 

a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

re
fe
rr
a
l 
h
u
b
 a
lo
n
g
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 m

u
lt
i 
a
g
e
n
c
y
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
te
a
m
 a
re
 

re
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 a
s
 g
o
o
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
. 
T
h
e
 p
a
n
e
l 

w
o
u
ld
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 e
a
rl
y
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

a
l 
lin
k
s
 

a
re
 m

a
d
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 

tw
o
 a
re
a
s
 a
n
d
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 i
n
 f
u
tu
re
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
/ 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
. 
 

 A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
ll 
e
a
rl
y
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
m
a
y
 

W
o
rk
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 

          C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
o
rk
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
x
t 
fo
u
r 
y
e
a
rs
 

1
 m

o
n
th
 

          6
 m

o
n
th
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
r 

         T
o
rb
a
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

 

Y
e
s
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
fu
tu
re
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

w
o
rk
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
in
te
g
ra
te
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 w
it
h
 

L
o
c
a
lit
y
 t
e
a
m
s
, 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t,
 J
o
b
 c
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
 

a
n
d
 C
A
B
. 
R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

H
u
b
 r
o
le
 /
 f
u
tu
re
 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 n
e
x
t 
6
 

m
o
n
th
s
. 



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

a
ls
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 e
ff
o
rt
s
 a
re
 n
o
t 

d
u
p
lic
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 c
o
s
t 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 i
s
 

m
a
x
im
is
e
d
. 

4
.1
3
 

T
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 p
a
n
e
l 
w
o
u
ld
 

lik
e
 t
o
 f
u
lly
 e
n
d
o
rs
e
 t
h
e
 

w
o
rk
 o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 

th
e
 j
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a
re
 r
e
p
lic
a
te
d
 

a
n
d
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 b
e
y
o
n
d
 t
o
 o
th
e
r 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 a
n
d
 

a
d
u
lt
s
, 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
, 

e
a
rl
y
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
o
s
t 
im
p
o
rt
a
n
tl
y
 u
s
e
r 

le
d
. 

T
h
is
 f
it
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 t
o
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 

C
a
re
, 
w
h
ic
h
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
la
ri
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

lig
h
t 
o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 r
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
ri
n
g
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
. 
 8
8
%
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
re
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
d
u
lt
s
 a
n
d
 1
2
%
 

to
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
 

a
n
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
re
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 a
lig
n
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 e
m
e
rg
in
g
 

c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

1
 m

o
n
th
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

 

Y
e
s
 

U
p
d
a
te
 U
n
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

4
.1
4
 

In
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
s
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
a
n
e
l 
w
o
u
ld
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
 

th
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 v
e
ry
 r
e
a
l 

R
is
k
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 w
it
h
 d
e
c
lin
in
g
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

tb
a
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
E
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

Y
e
s
 

U
p
d
a
te
 U
n
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 



 

R
e
f.
 

O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
: 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
/A
c
ti
o
n
s
: 

T
im

e
s
c
a
le
 f
o
r 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
: 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 

O
ff
ic
e
r:
 

M
a
y
o
r 

A
g
re
e
d
: 

U
p
d
a
te
: 
 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
ta
in
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
n
 

te
rm

s
 o
f 
b
o
th
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
h
e
 

ti
m
e
ly
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 o
f 

p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
 

4
.1
5
 

A
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
e
le
c
te
d
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
ro
u
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
n
g
 

h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
. 
 

T
o
 b
e
 b
u
ilt
 i
n
to
 m

e
m
b
e
r 
in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
  

2
 m

o
n
th
s
 

J
u
n
e
 G
u
rr
y
 

Y
e
s
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
W
o
rk
s
h
o
p
 h
e
ld
 

1
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
1
1
 t
o
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
 c
o
re
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

m
a
tt
e
rs
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
 

 



Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10
Appendix 2By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10
Appendix 3By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10
Appendix 4By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes O&S Board 09-08-11

	5 Productivity Improvement Programme (PIP) - RIO (Revenue Income Optimisation)
	6 Torbay Swimming Strategy 2011 - 2026
	Appendix to Swimming Strategy

	7 Affordable Housing Scrutiny Review Œ position statement
	10 Office Rationalisation Project (ORP) Implementation Plan
	Office rationalisation project Implementation Plan Final Version EXEMPT 080911
	Appendix 1 ORP Implementation Plan EXEMPT
	Appendix 2 ORP Implementation Plan EXEMPT
	Appendix 3 ORP Implementation Plan EXEMPT

	11 Revenue Income Optimisation Project (RIO) - Implementation Proposed Business Case for Beach Hut Development
	Appendix 1 - Beach Huts EXEMPT
	Appendix 2 (Option B) - Beach Huts EXEMPT
	RIO beach huts finance EXEMPT
	MAPS EXEMPT


